CHAPTER 4

PANIC DISORDER

JOANNA ARCH AND MICHELLE G. CRASKE

In W.E. Craighead, D.J. Miklowitz, & L.W. Craighead (Eds.), *Psychopathology: history, diagnosis, and empirical foundations*. New York: Wiley

The purpose of this chapter is to offer an up-to-date review on the nature, etiology, assessment, and treatment of panic disorder. The chapter aims to integrate a substantial body of previous research on panic disorder with the most recent advances in the field.

Description of Panic Disorder

Description of Symptoms and Criteria

A panic attack is an abrupt surge of intense fear or discomfort that is diagnostically characterized by a cluster of 13 physical and cognitive symptoms, including palpitations, shortness of breath, parasthesias, trembling, derealization, and fears of dying, going crazy, or losing control (American Psychiatric Association [APA], 1994). The panic attack is discrete, having a sudden, abrupt onset and relatively brief duration (with symptoms peaking within 10 minutes of onset), as opposed to gradually building anxious arousal. A *full-blown* panic attack is defined as four or more symptoms, whereas *limited symptom* attacks are defined as fewer than four symptoms.

Panic attacks are characterized by a unique action tendency: Specifically, urges to escape, and less often, urges to fight. In other words, panic attacks represent activation of the fight-flight system. Accordingly, panic attacks usually involve elevated autonomic nervous system arousal, needed to support such fightflight reactivity. Furthermore, perceptions of imminent threat, such as death, loss of control, or social ridicule frequently accompany the fight-flight responsee. However, the urgency to escape, autonomic arousal, and perception of threat are not present in every self-reported occurrence of panic. For example, data gathered from ambulatory (portable) devices have found sympathetic nervous system activation (Wilkinson et al., 1998) although nonactivation has also been documented (for ~40% of self-reported panic attacks, see Margraf, Taylor, Ehlers, Roth, & Agras, 1987; Taylor, Sheikh, Agras, Roth, Margraf, Ehlers, Maddock, & Gossard, 1986). Severe panic attacks are more autonomically based (Margraf et al., 1987). Self-reported panic in the absence of actual autonomic activation is assumed to reflect anticipatory anxiety versus true panic (Barlow, Brown, & Craske, 1994). Another discordant example occurs when perceptions of threat or danger are refuted, despite the report of intense fear and arousal. This has been termed noncognitive panic (Rachman, Lopatka, & Levitt, 1988).

Panic attacks may be experienced by individuals diagnosed with any of the anxiety disorders, and they are common in all of these disorders. Panic disorder is distinguished by unexpected panic attacks, or attacks that occur without an obvious trigger, and at least 1 month of persistent apprehension about the recurrence of panic or its consequences, or a significant behavioral change. These behavioral changes may include safety behaviors, such as frequent attendance at medical facilities for fear of a medical problem, or agoraphobia. Agoraphobia refers to avoidance, or endurance with dread, of situations from which escape might be difficult or in which help might be unavailable in the event of a panic attack, or paniclike symptoms, such as loss of bowel control. Typical agoraphobic situations include shopping malls, waiting in line, movie theaters, traveling by car or bus, crowded restaurants and stores, and being alone.

A subset of individuals who have panic disorder also experience *nocturnal* panic attacks. Nocturnal panic refers to waking from sleep in a state of panic with symptoms that are very similar to panic attacks that occur during wakeful states (Uhde, 1994; Craske & Barlow, 1989). Nocturnal panic does *not* refer to waking from sleep and panicking after a lapse of waking time, or night-time arousals induced by nightmares or environmental stimuli (such as unexpected noises). Also, nocturnal panic is distinct from sleep terrors and sleep apnea (see Craske & Tsao, 2005, for a review).

Although epidemiological studies have not been conducted, surveys of select clinical groups suggest that nocturnal panic is relatively common among individuals with panic disorder, with 44% to 71% reporting nocturnal panic at least once, and 30% to 45% reporting repeated nocturnal panics (Craske & Barlow, 1989; Krystal, Woods, Hill, & Charney, 1991; Mellman & Uhde, 1989<AQ: Reference entry needed>; Roy-Byrne, Mellman, & Uhde, 1988; Uhde, 1994). Individuals who suffer frequent nocturnal panics often become fearful of sleep and attempt to delay sleep onset. Avoidance of sleep may result in chronic sleep deprivation, in turn precipitating more nocturnal panics (Uhde).

Case Example

Sandy is a 30-year-old Caucasian mother of a 5 year old and a 3 year old, who lives with her husband of 6 years. For the past 2 years, she has been chronically anxious and panic stricken. Her panic attacks are described as intolerable and increasing in frequency. The first time that she panicked was 3 years ago, just after the birth of her second child. She recalls suddenly experiencing strong sensations of lightheadedness and weakness when she was at home with her newborn and 2 –year-old children. She was convinced that she was about to pass out. She immediately laid down. The feelings passed within a few minutes, but Sandy remained very concerned that she would pass out. This concern was particularly worrisome since Sandy feared what would happen to her children if she lost consciousness. She felt anxious for a day or so but then forgot about the feelings until a few weeks later, when again, at home alone with her children, she was overcome with even stronger sensations of lightheadedness, weakness, and a cold sweat. She became very afraid, especially for her children, and called her husband, who left work to be with her. A visit to her primary care doctor the next day did not reveal any medical explanations for the symptoms. Nonetheless, Sandy began to pay close attention to her physical state and became very anxious about her husband's upcoming business trip. While her husband was away, she panicked daily, each time phoning her mother, who would come over to look after the children while Sandy laid down until the feelings subsided. From that time onward, Sandy was very anxious about being alone with her children.

Now Sandy has these feelings in many situations. She describes her panic attacks as intense feelings of lightheadedness, weakness, a sense of unreality and detachment, a racing heart, nausea, and fears of losing consciousness. It is the lightheadedness and unreality that scare her the most, for fear of passing out and leaving her children unattended. Consequently, Sandy is now sensitive to anything that produces lightheaded and unreal types of feelings, such as standing quickly from a seated position, heat, the semiconsciousness that occurs just before falling asleep, bright lights, alcohol, and drugs. Even though she has a prescription for Klonopin (a high-potency benzodiazepine), she rarely uses medication because of her fear of feeling "weird" and unable to take care of her children. She wants to be as alert as possible at all times, but she keeps the Klonopin with her in the event that she has no other escape route. She is very sensitive to her body in general she becomes scared of anything that feels a little different than usual. Even coffee, which she used to enjoy, is distressing to her now because of its agitating and racy effects. She was never a big exerciser, but to think of exerting herself now is also scary. She reports that she is constantly waiting for the next panic to occur. She avoids being alone with her children and situations where she thinks she is more likely to pass out, such as driving, restaurants, and long distances from home. She avoids crowds and large groups as well, partly because of the feeling of too much stimulation and partly because she is afraid she might panic in front of others. Also, Sandy avoids unstructured time, in the event she might dwell on how she feels and, by so doing, panic. She tries to keep herself as busy as possible with her children but remains constantly anxious about the possibility of panicking and passing out. In general, she prefers to be with her husband or her mother.

In fact, her reliance on her husband and mother has strained those relationships. Her husband is frustrated with Sandy's behavior and the restrictions it has placed on his own life: he no longer goes on business trips, he spends every free moment with Sandy and the children, and sometimes he has to leave work to come home because Sandy's mother is not available to be with her. Similarly, while her mother offers to help as much as possible, she is also feeling that Sandy's reliance upon her is too much.

Sandy describes how different she is from the way she used to be: how weak and scared she is now. The only other incident that has any similarity to her current panic attacks occurred in her late teens when she smoked marijuana. Sandy recalls being very scared of the feeling of losing control and the sense that she would never return to reality. She has not taken drugs since then. Otherwise she has no history of serious medical conditions or any previous psychological treatment. Sandy was shy as a young child and throughout her teens. However, her social anxiety improved throughout her 20s to the point that, up until the onset of her panic attacks, she was mostly very comfortable around people. Since the onset of her panic attacks, she has become concerned that others will notice that she appears different or strange. However, her social anxiety is limited to panic attacks and does not reflect a broader social phobia.

In general, her appetite is good but her sleep is restless. At least once a week she wakes abruptly in the middle of the night with a panic attack, feeling short of breath and scared. Sandy is mostly worried about her panic attacks. She worries about what will happen to her children if she loses consciousness, but she also worries what will happen to them in the long term, if she continues to panic. She has some difficulty concentrating, but in general she functions well when she feels safe—that is, when her mother or husband are nearby. She sometimes becomes depressed about her panic and the limitations on her independence. She occasionally has times of feeling hopeless about the future, doubting if she will ever be able to get back to feeling like she did before these attacks began.

Brief History

Panic disorder was first regarded as a diagnostic entity with the publication of the *DSM III*, 25 years ago. Prior to that time, panic attacks were viewed as symptoms of a general neurosis, although accounts of a clinically similar syndrome appeared much earlier. These were labeled as *soldiers heart* (Wooley, 1982), *neurocirculatory asthenia* (Wheeler, White, Reed, & Cohen, 1950), and *effort syndrome* (Nixon, 1993). In the *DSM-III*, agoraphobia was considered a separate disorder, which might or might not be associated with panic attacks. Observations of clinical samples by Klein (1981) and others (Craske & Barlow, 1988; Turner, Williams, Beidel, & Mezzich, 1986) suggested that agoraphobia generally developed following panic attacks, and this led to a redefinition of agoraphobia as a secondary response to panic attacks in the *DSM-III-R* (Barlow, 2002). However, the debate continues (see the epidemiology section), and the latest *DSM* (*DSM-IV-TR* [American Psychiatric Association], 1994) retains agoraphobia without a history of Panic Disorder as a separate diagnosis. In contrast to earlier *DSM* diagnostic criteria, greater recognition is given in *DSM-IV* to the notion that panic attacks may occur in the context of any anxiety disorder. Panic attacks are categorized as either situationally bound, situationally predisposed, or unexpected/uncued. Panic Disorder is diagnosed when there are repeated unexpected/uncued panic attacks and persistent apprehension about panic attacks and/or behavioral changes resultant from panic attacks.

Epidemiology

From the National Comorbidity Survey-Replication (NCS-R), prevalence estimates for Panic Disorder are 2.7% (12 month) and 4.7% (lifetime; Kessler, Berglund, Demler, Jin, Merikangas, & Walters, 2005a; Kessler, Chiu, Demler, Merikangas, & Walters, 2005b). These rates are higher than those reported in the original NCS (Kessler et al. 1994) and the older Epidemiological Catchment Area (ECA) study (Myers et al. 1984). In addition, they are higher than recent estimates from the Ukraine (Bromet et al., 2005), Japan (Kawakami et al., 2005) and Germany (Goodwin, Fergusson, & Horwood, 2005). While data from the United States suggests increased prevalence over the past two decades (Goodwin 2003), the data from other countries raises the possibility that the range in prevalence rates reflects differences in diagnostic methodology as well as variations in diagnostic criteria.

In contrast to individuals with agoraphobia who seek treatment, who almost always report a history of panic that preceded development of their avoidance (Wittchen, Reed, & Kessler, 1998), epidemiological data indicate relatively high rates for agoraphobia without a history of panic disorder: 0.8% in the last 12 months (versus 2.8% for Panic Disorder; Kessler et al., 2005a) and 1.4% lifetime prevalence (versus 4.7% for Panic Disorder: Kessler et al., 2005b). These rates are considerably lower than previous epidemiological estimates by Kessler and colleagues (1994) of 2.8% for agoraphobia without panic in the last 12 months and 5.3% over the lifetime. The more recent data still indicate that the rate of agoraphobia without a history of Panic Disorder occurs at nearly one third the rate of Panic Disorder. The earlier epidemiological data may have overestimated agoraphobia prevalence due to misdiagnosis of Generalized Anxiety, specific and social phobias, and reasonable cautiousness about certain situations (e.g., walking alone in unsafe neighborhoods) as agoraphobia (Horwath, Lish, Johnson, Hornig, & Weissman, 1993). The more general discrepancy between the clinical and epidemiology data may occur because individuals who panic are more likely to seek help (Boyd, 1986).

Rarely does the diagnosis of Panic Disorder, with or without agoraphobia, occur in isolation. Commonly co-occurring Axis I conditions include specific phobias: Social Phobia, Dysthymia, Generalized Anxiety Disorder, Major Depressive Disorder, and substance abuse (e.g., 60% [Brown, Campbell, Lehman, Gishman, & Mancill, 2001]; 51% [Brown, Antony, & Barlow, 1995]; 51% [Kessler, Chiu, Demler, Merikangas, & Walker, 2005b]) Also, from 25% to 60% of persons with Panic Disorder meet criteria for a current comorbid personality disorder, mostly avoidant or dependent personality disorders (e.g., Chambless & Renneberg, 1988).

The modal age of onset for Panic Disorder is early adulthood, between age 21 and 23, although there is significant variability in onset period (Kessler et al., 2006<AQ: Reference entry needed>). In fact, a substantial proportion of adolescents report panic attacks (e.g., Hayward et al., 1992). Panic Disorder in children and adolescents tends to be chronic and comorbid with other anxiety, mood, and disruptive disorders (Biederman et al., 1997). Treatment is usually sought at a much later age, around 34 years (e.g., Noyes, Crowe, Harris, Hamra, McChesney, & Chaudhry, 1986). The overall ratio of females to males is approximately 2:1 (Kessler et al., 2006) although the ratio shifts dramatically in the direction of female predominance as the level of agoraphobia worsens (e.g., Thyer, Himle, Curtis, Cameron, & Nesse, 1985).

Most individuals with Panic Disorder With or Without Agoraphobia (approximately 72%; Craske, Miller, Rotunda, & Barlow, 1990) report identifiable stressors around the time of their first panic attack. These include interpersonal stressors and stressors related to physical well-being, such as negative drug experiences, disease, or death in the family. However, the number of stressors does not differ from the number experienced prior to the onset of other types of anxiety disorders (Pollard, Pollard, & Corn, 1989; Rapee, Litwin, & Barlow, 1990; Roy-Byrne, Geraci, & Uhde, 1986). Approximately one half report having experienced panicky feelings at some time before their first full panic attack, suggesting that onset may be either insidious or acute (Craske et al., 1990).

Finally, Panic Disorder and agoraphobia tend to be chronic conditions, with severe financial and interpersonal costs. Individuals with Panic Ddisorder overutilize medical resources compared to the general public and to individuals with other psychiatric disorders (e.g., Roy-Byrne et al., 1999). Even with or following pharmacological treatment only a minority of patients remit without subsequent relapse (~30%), although a similar number experience notable improvement, albeit with a waxing and waning course (25–35%; Roy-Byrne & Cowley, 1995; Katschnig & Amering, 1998). Nevertheless, the prognosis for Panic Disorder, especially in the absence of agoraphobia, is more positive than for Generalized Anxiety Disorder or Social Anxiety Disorder (Bruce et al., 2005).

Actual Dysfunction

Neurobiology of Panic Disorder

Genetics

The trait of neuroticism confers risk for emotional disorders, including Panic Disorder (e.g., Mineka, Watson, & Clark, 1998). Numerous multivariate genetic analyses of human twin samples consistently attribute approximately 50% of the variance in neuroticism to additive genetic factors (Lake, Eaves, Maes, Heath, & Martin, 2000). In addition, anxiety and depression appear to be variable expressions of the heritable tendency toward neuroticism (Kendler, Heath, Martin, & Eaves, 1987). Twin studies provide evidence that symptoms of fear (i.e., breathlessness, heart pounding) may be additionally explained by a unique source of genetic variance that is differentiated from symptoms of depression and anxiety (Kendler et al.) and, at least in females, from neuroticism (Martin, Jardine, Andrews, & Heath, 1988).

Even though heritability studies of anxiety disorders rely on poorly validated lifetime diagnostic instruments (e.g., Diagnostic Interview Schedule), two broad but distinct genetic factors have been identified. The first is defined by high loadings for Generalized Anxiety Disorder and Major Depression, but only moderate loadings for Panic Disorder (Mineka, Watson, & Clark, 1998) and agoraphobia (Kendler, Neale, Kessler, Heath, & Eaves, 1993). The second is defined by high loadings for Panic Disorder (with and without agoraphobia) and phobias (Kendler et al., 1995). Support for these two broad diatheses exists in separate analyses of the Vietnam Era Twin Registry (Scherrer et al., 2000).

Analyses of specific genetic markers remain preliminary and inconsistent. For example, Panic Disorder has been linked to a locus on chromosome 13 (Hamilton et al., 2003; Schumacher et al., 2005<AQ: Reference entry needed>) and chromosome 9 (Gagunashvili et al., 2003<AQ: Reference entry needed>), but the exact genes remain unknown. Findings regarding markers for the cholecystokinin-BE receptor gene have been inconsistent (van Megen, Westenberg, Den Boer, & Kahn, 1996 versus Hamilton et al., 2001). Association and linkage studies implicate the adenosine receptor gene in panic disorder (Deckert et al., 1998; Hamilton et al. 2004). However, studies of genes involved in neurotransmitter systems associated with fear and anxiety have produced inconsistent results (see Roy-Byrne, Stein & Craske, in press).

Basic Neurocircuitry

Amygdala. Current neural models focus on the role of the amgydala and related structures as central to the dysfunctional anxiety evaluation and response system in Panic Disorder (Gorman, Kent, Sullivan & Coplan, 2000). The amygdala serves as a mediator of input from the environment (via the thalamus and sensory cortex) and stored experience (via the frontal cortex and hippocampus), which then triggers the anxiety and panic response by activating brain regions involved in central panic symptoms, including the hypothalamus (HPA axis and autonomic system), locus ceruleus (heart rate and blood pressures), and parabrachial nucleus (changes in respiration; see Roy-Byrne, Stein & Craske, in press). Recent research on patients with Panic Disorder has found alterations in the amygdala and associated structures consistent with this model, including reduced volume in the amygdala (Massana et al., 2003) and left temporal lobe (Uchida et al., 2003), decreased cerebral glucose metabolism in amygdala, hippocampus, thalamus, and brain stem (Sakai et al., 2005), and lowered levels of creatine and phosphocreatine metabolites in the right medial temporal lobe (Massana et al., 2002). Many of these findings occur in various combinations in other anxiety disorders such as Social Anxiety and Posttraumatic Stress Disorder (Kent & Rauch, 2003), indicating that they are not necessarily specific to Panic Disorder.

GABA / Benzodiazepine System. Another neurological system potentially implicated in the pathophysiology of Panic Disorder is the γ -aminobutyric acid (GABA) neuronal system. Studies demonstrate that patients with Panic Disorder exhibit low baseline GABA levels in the occipital cortex (Goddard et al., 2001) and, following acute benzodiazepine administration, show blunted benzodiazepine sensitivity (Roy-Byrne, Cowley, Greenblatt, Shader & Hommer, 1990) and GABA neuronal responses (Goddard et al., 2004). Potentially elucidating these findings, several (Bremner et al., 2000; Malizia et al., 1998) but not all (Brandt et al., 1998) studies have found lowered benzodiazepine receptor density in amygdala and perihippocampal areas in patients with Panic Disorder. However, GABA abnormalities have also been found in patients with other psychological disorders such as depression (Sanacora et al., 1999) and alcohol dependency (Behar et al., 1999), suggesting once again that these findings may not necessarily be specific to Panic Disorder.

HPA Axis and Autonomic Nervous System

Functioning. Dysregulations of the autonomic nervous system and HPA axis have been hypothesized to be central to Panic Disorder. Previous research was mixed, although a carefully controlled examination of corticotropin and cortisol secretions over 24 hours revealed that individuals with Panic Disorder had significantly higher overnight cortisol levels, particularly the more severe

individuals (Abelson & Curtis, 1996). In an attempt to reconcile seemingly contradictory findings, Abelson and colleagues (2006) recently reexamined four HPA studies from their laboratory, including the 24-hour study. They concluded that experimental contexts that are novel, uncontrollable, and/or threatening produce elevated HPA responses in Panic Disorder patients relative to healthy controls and account for disparate findings from previous studies. In other words, they found consistent evidence that individuals with Panic Disorder show elevated HPA reactivity to specific environmental cues, rather than elevated HPA responding in general (i.e., basally). The same effect has been observed with measures of the time course of startle eye blink responding (which is mediated by the amygdala; Anders et al., 2004): baseline startle was enhanced in participants with Panic Disorder relative to controls, but the groups showed otherwise equivalent patterns of responding to approaching shock (Grillon, Ameli, Goddard, Woods, & Davis, 1994). Since baseline represents a state of anticipation about upcoming experimental procedures, the results are interpreted as elevated emotional reactivity to stressful conditions in general versus exaggerated responding to explicit threat cues (Grillon, 2002). Similarly, investigations of autonomic state, such as galvanic skin response, heart rate, respiration, and skin temperature generally indicate that persons with Panic Disorder show an elevated response to experimental contexts versus explicit threat stimuli (e.g., Roth et al., 1992).

Heart rate variability and specifically cardiac vagal tone, the highfrequency component of heart rate variability, have emerged as popular means of assessing parasympathetic responding. High cardiac vagal tone¹ is hypothesized to facilitate the organism's capacity for quick, precise cardiac and behavioral adaptations to changes in internal states and environmental circumstances, whereas low vagal tone limits such flexible responding (Porges, 1992). In Panic Disorder, the evidence for abnormal heart rate variability and vagal tone is mixed. On one hand, compared to nonpanic controls, decreased spectral reserve and highfrequency (HF) power, increased low-frequency (LF) power, and an elevated LF/HF ratio have been found in Panic Disorder samples during both nonpanic and panicogenic conditions (Friedman, Thayer & Borkovec, 1993; Friedman & Thayer, 1998). However, heart rate variability abnormalities have also been found among individuals with Generalized Anxiety Disorder (Thayer, Friedman, & Borkovec, 1996; Thayer et al., 2000), Posttraumatic Stress Disorder (e.g., Cohen et al., 1998, 2000) and Obsessive Compulsive Disorder (Hoehn-Saric, McLeod, & Hipsley, 1995, but see Slaap, Nielen, Boshuisen, van Roon, & den Boer, 2004 for the opposite finding). Thus, it remains unclear whether a distinct pattern of heart rate variability abnormalities characterizes Panic Disorder or whether similar abnormalities generalize across the anxiety disorders. More importantly, multiple well-controlled studies have failed to find heart rate variability differences in Panic Disorder patients versus healthy controls (Asmundson & Stein, 1994; Stein

& Asmundson, 1994; McCraty, Atkinson, Tomasino & Stuppy, 2001; Slaap, et al., 2004) or produce contradictory results (Ito et al., 1999). Differences in time of testing, environmental and psychological conditions surrounding testing (e.g., Abelson et al., 2006), methods of recording and analysis, and subject demographic factors such as age, fitness, illness duration, and severity (e.g., Ito et al., 1999) may account for these inconsistencies.

Researchers also have focused on assessing sympathetic nervous system functioning in Panic Disorder. Evaluations of sympathetic nervous system functioning over extended periods of time in the natural environment have vielded mixed results. Some report no baseline differences between Panic Disorder and nonanxious controls in terms of respiratory and cardiovascular functioning (Clark et al., 1990; Shear et al., 1992), whereas others find differences (Anastasiades et al., 1990; Bystritsky, Craske, Maidenberg, Vapnik, & Shapiro, 1995). A recent study of patients who had remitted from Panic Disorder found evidence for a dysfunctional baroreflex regulation of sympathetic nerve activity before and after audiovisual stimulation (Shioiri et al., 2005). Another study (Lambert et al., 2002) failed to find differences in baroreflex response in Panic Disorder patients versus healthy controls at rest. However, Lambert and colleagues (2002) found evidence of higher reflex gain in arterial baroreflex control of the muscle sympathetic nerve activity in Panic Disorder patients, suggesting increased reactivity of vasoconstricting sympathetic nerves. Differences in the contextual threat value of the studies (anticipating and experiencing stressful stimuli versus resting) perhaps account for these seemingly contradictory findings (see Abelson et al., 2006).

Recently, Alvarenga and colleagues (2006) measured cardiac sympathetic nervous tone during resting baseline via rates of cardiac noradrenaline spillover and found no differences between individuals with and without panic disorder. Rather, they found reductions in measures of the noradrenaline transporter among Panic Disorder patients, suggesting impaired neuronal uptake of noradrenaline in Panic Disorder. Interestingly, Middleton and Ashby (1995) found that Panic Disorder treatment in the form of CBT or imipramine increased plasma noradrenaline, suggesting that noradrenaline-associated dysregulations may be modifiable via treatment.

Despite one discrepant report (Schittecatte, Charles, Depauw, Mesters, & Wilmotte, 1988), the vast majority of studies (e.g., Abelson et al., 1992; Brambilla, Perna, Garberi, Nobile, & Bellodi, 1995) have shown that patients with panic disorder display blunted growth hormone responses to clonodine, an alpha2-adrenoreceptor partial agonist. However, Abelson and colleagues (2005) measured growth hormone secretion over a 24-hour period and found no differences between panic patients and non-patients, suggesting that growth hormone circadian patterns and basal secretory activity are normal in panic disorder. Hence, growth hormone abnormalities in panic disorder may be evidenced only in specific activation paradigms, most consistently with clonodine. These combined findings have been interpreted as consistent with subsensitivity in post-synaptic alpha2-adrenoreceptor in response to excessive central noradrenergic outflow.

Given the extent of the varied findings across multiple physiological indexes, opinion is mixed regarding whether instability of the autonomic nervous system is a necessary precondition for the development of Panic Disorder, either alone or coupled with cognitive distress (see Stein & Asmundson, 1994 versus Papp, Klein, and Gorman, 1993). As mentioned in the context of heart rate variability studies, the contradictory and inconsistent findings in the physiological literature on Panic Disorder may stem from differences in contextual, methodological, and sample demographic factors. Following the example of Abelson and associates (2006), future research would benefit from investigating hypotheses about specific factors that may account for disparate findings among studies.

Behavioral Features of Panic Disorder

The behavioral features of Panic Disorder involve actions taken or refrained from in order to increase perceived protection from panic attacks. These behaviors can be divided into categories of agoraphobic avoidance, interoceptive avoidance, safety behaviors, and experiential avoidance.

Agoraphobic Avoidance

Behaviors that involve enduring with dread or avoiding places and situations from which escape might be challenging or embarrassing or in which help may not be available in case of a panic attack are illustrations of agoraphobic avoidance (*DSM-IV*, APA, 1994). Typical agoraphobic avoidance behaviors include avoidance of buses or subways, large crowds, shopping malls, restaurants, sporting events, and being alone.

The relationship between agoraphobic avoidance and Panic Disorder remains a subject of debate (e.g., Craske, 2003). Among individuals with Panic Disorder, agoraphobic avoidance ranges widely (Craske & Barlow, 1988). Some individuals manifest few to no agoraphobic symptoms, whereas others spend years as virtual prisoners in their own homes. It is not uncommon for individuals with more severe agoraphobia to limit themselves to a safety zone of a few blocks or miles around their home and to not venture beyond its radius, unaccompanied or at all (Barlow, 2002).

What accounts for these wide discrepancies in the development of agoraphobia among individuals with Panic Disorder? Researchers have examined

various predictors and correlates of agoraphobia. Although agoraphobia tends to increase as history of panic lengthens (Kikuchi et al., 2005), a significant proportion panic for many years without developing agoraphobic limitations. In addition, agoraphobia is not related to age of onset or frequency of panic attacks (Kikuchi et al.; Cox, Endler, & Swinson, 1995; Craske & Barlow, 1988; Rapee & Murrell, 1988). Some investigators have found that panic attack symptomatology is more intense among more agoraphobic individuals (e.g., de Jong & Bouman, 1995; Goisman et al., 1994; Telch, Brouilard, Telch, Agras, & Taylor, 1989; Noyes, Clancy, Garvey, & Anderson, 1987) whereas others fail to find such differences (e.g., Kikuchi et al., 2005; Cox et al., 1995; Craske et al., 1990). Agoraphobic individuals with Panic Disorder do not differ from their nonagoraphobic counterparts in terms of fears of dving, going crazy, or losing control (Cox et al., 1995; Craske, Rapee, & Barlow, 1988). However, individuals with greater agoraphobia show more distress regarding the social consequences of panicking (Amering, Katschnig, Berger, Windhaber, Baischer, & Dantendorfer, 1997; de Jong & Bouman, 1995; Rapee & Murrell, 1988; Telch et al., 1989). A recent investigation by Kikuchi et al. (2005) found that individuals who developed agoraphobia within 6 months of the onset of Panic Disorder had a higher prevalence of Generalized Anxiety Disorder, but not major depression.² Whether the latter two findings serve an antecedent or secondary role in agoraphobia remains to be determined.

Occupational status also predicts agoraphobic avoidance, accounting for 18% of the variance: "the more one is forced to leave the house by means of employment, the less one is likely to suffer from agoraphobia" (de Jong & Bouman, 1995, p. 197). But perhaps the strongest predictor of agoraphobia is gender. As agoraphobia increases in severity, the proportion of females increases as well (e.g., Thyer et al., 1985). Socialized sex role expectations and behaviors may contribute to these effects, as socialization may reinforce activity, independence, and confrontation of feared stimuli and situations to a greater extent in boys than girls (Craske & Barlow, 1988; Craske 2003). Given the direct relevance of avoidance behaviors for the development of agoraphobia, the clinical implications are clear.

Interoceptive Avoidance

Strong sensitivity to and avoidance of the internal bodily symptoms associated with anxiety and panic is known as *interoceptive avoidance* (Rapee, Craske, & Barlow, 1995; Bouton, Mineka, & Barlow, 2001; White & Barlow, 2002. Behavioral manifestations include actions intended to minimize exposure to situations, substances, or activities that reproduce bodily sensations associated with symptoms of anxiety and/or panic attacks. Common examples include avoiding exercise, sex, caffeine, alcohol, wearing a necktie, watching arousing or scary movies, and situations that may produce anger. Assessing the specific interoceptive cues and situations Panic Disorder patients avoid is central to treatment.

Safety Behaviors

Safety behaviors are "behaviors which are intended to avoid *disaster*" (Salkovskis, Clark, Hackman, Wells, & Gelder, 1999, p. 573, italics in original). Within Panic Disorder, they are behaviors that help individuals feel more protected and secure in the event of a panic attack (White & Barlow, 2002). Examples include checking to make sure that a bathroom or hospital is close by, taking one's pulse rate whenever cardiac concerns arise, and carrying cell phones, religious symbols, smelling salts, a special "safe" object, food or drink. Perhaps the most common safety behavior is carrying anti-anxiety medication, including empty pill bottles. Another widespread behavior is bringing along or checking on the location of a safe person, often a spouse, whose presence provides a sense of reassurance that facilitates venturing out to places that otherwise would be avoided. The "safe" person is generally considered as such because they know about the patient's panic attacks and can assist if the panic attack becomes overwhelming (White & Barlow, 2002).

Closely related to the concept of safety behaviors are safety signals, which refer to the safe objects, persons, and situations sought via safety behaviors. These include objects such as empty pill bottles, people such as the therapist or spouse, and situations such as the therapy room, which when present indicate that a given situation is safe from panic-related disaster. An extensive animal literature (see Hermans, Craske, Mineka, & Lovibond, 2006) demonstrates that the presence of safety signals functions as a conditioned inhibitor that interferes with extinction. Though somewhat limited methodologically, a few treatment studies indicate that exposure therapy targeting reductions of safety behaviors and signals is more successful than exposure therapy alone (Salkovskis et al., 1999; Telch, Sloan & Smits, 2000, as cited in Powers, Smits, & Telch, 2004). Also, the mere availability of safety signals rather than the actual use of them disrupted fear extinction in exposure treatment for claustrophobia (Powers, Smits and Telch). Hence, safety behaviors may reduce anxiety in the short term but likely serve to maintain Panic Disorder in the long term by preventing the disconfirmation of the patient's catastrophic predictions about panic (Salkovskis et al., 1999) and/or the extinction of the conditioned response (see Hermans et al., 2006).

Several investigators (Salkovskis et al., 1999; Thwaites & Freeston, 2005) have attempted to differentiate safety-seeking behaviors, which aim to prevent disaster, from adaptive coping strategies that aim to "reduce anxiety alone, with no further fears about the consequences of the anxiety" (Salkovskis et al., 1999, p.

573). However, as noted by Thwaites and Freeston (2005), this distinction is often blurry in practice. Perhaps the most general and clinically relevant definition of safety signals is any behavior intended to avert disasters associated with panic that inhibits corrective learning and eventual fear reduction of anxiety and panicrelated stimuli.

Experiential Avoidance

Experiential avoidance occurs when an individual is "unwilling to remain in contact with particular private experiences [e.g., bodily sensations, emotions, thoughts, memories, behavioral predispositions] and takes steps to alter the form or frequency of these events and the contexts" in which they occur (Hayes et al., 1996, p.1154). The types of avoidance discussed thus far, particularly interoceptive avoidance, also may be characterized as *experiential* avoidance. In addition, any form of distraction from anxiety- and panic-related symptoms falls under this category. Distraction behaviors include watching TV, playing video or computer games, and eating, among others. From the perspective of experiential avoidance, distraction represents an unwillingness to experience anxiety- and fear-related thoughts and emotions. Whether distraction interferes with exposure therapy for anxiety is a subject of debate (e.g., Devilly 2001a, 2001b versus Lipke, 2001<AQ: Reference entry needed>; see also Rodriguez & Craske, 1993). However, several controlled, empirical studies (Rodriguez & Craske, 1995; Kamphuis & Telch, 2000; Telch et al., 2004) have found that distraction generally results in less effective fear reduction in the context of exposure therapy.

Experiential avoidance also includes avoidance and suppression of anxietyand panic-related cognitions, such as "I'm having a heart attack." Evidence generally suggests that thought suppression has a negative impact. That is, thought suppression and to some extent emotional suppression have been shown to be relatively counterproductive, facilitating the return of the very thought or emotional arousal one hoped to avoid (Gross & Levenson, 1993, 1997; Wenzlaff & Wegner, 2000; Richards & Gross, 2000).

Researchers of experiential avoidance argue that psychopathology in general, including Panic Disorder, is caused and maintained by experiential avoidance. In other words, psychopathology stems from an unwillingness to experience whatever thoughts, feelings, memories, and so forth appear in the present (e.g., Hayes et al, 1996, 1999; Eifert & Forsyth, 2005). In claiming that altering thoughts is a form of avoidance, proponents of experiential avoidance argue against attempts to change or modify the content of anxiety- and panic-related thoughts, as is taught in traditional cognitive-behavioral therapy for Panic Disorder (see the following). They argue that psychopathology stems from

unwillingness to accept and remain in contact with present experience. Hence, acceptance of inner experience (e.g., of anxiety- and panic-related thoughts, feelings, and sensations) is promoted over direct modification and change (Hayes et al, 2006; Eifert & Forsyth, 2005; Hayes et al, 1999).

Cognitive Features of Panic Disorder

Persons with Panic Disorder have strong beliefs and fears of physical or mental harm arising from bodily sensations that are associated with panic attacks (e.g., Chambless, Caputo, Bright, & Gallagher, 1984; McNally & Lorenz, 1987). They are more likely to interpret bodily sensations in a catastrophic fashion (Clark et al., 1988), and to allocate more attentional resources to words that represent physical threat, such as "disease" and "fatality" (e.g., Ehlers, Margraf, Davies, & Roth, 1988; Hope, Rapee, Heimberg, & Dombeck, 1990; Asmundson, Sandler, Wilson, & Walker, 1992) and catastrophe words, such as "death" and "insane" (e.g., Maidenberg, Chen, Craske, Bohn, & Bystritsky, 1996; McNally, Riemann, Louro, Lukach, & Kim, 1992). In one dot-probe study that used (what patients believed was) real heartbeat information rather than threat word stimuli, evidence for attentional bias toward the heartbeat stimuli was found in Panic Disorder patients but not healthy controls (Kroeze & van den Hout, 2000). Also, individuals with Panic Disorder are more likely to fear procedures that elicit bodily sensations similar to the ones experienced during panic attacks, including benign cardiovascular, respiratory, and audiovestibular exercises (Zarate, Rapee, Craske, & Barlow, 1988; Jacob, Furman, Clark, & Durrant, 1992) and carbon dioxide inhalations, compared to patients with other anxiety disorders (e.g., Rapee, 1986<AQ: Reference entry needed>; Rapee, Brown, Antony, & Barlow, 1992; Perna, Bertani, Arancio, Ronchi, & Bellodi, 1995) or healthy controls (e.g., Gorman et al., 1994). Patients with Panic Disorder fear signals that ostensibly reflect heightened arousal and false physiological feedback (Ehlers, Margraf, Roth, Taylor, & Birnbaumer, 1988; Craske & Freed, 1995; Craske et al., 2002). The findings are not fully consistent, however, as patients with Panic Disorder did not differ from patients with Social Phobia in response to an epinephrine challenge (Veltman, Zijderveld, Tilders, & Dyck, 1996).

In addition, direct manipulation of appraisals can impact level of distress over physical symptoms. For example, persons with Panic Disorder and nonclinical panickers report significantly less fear and panic during laboratorybased panic provocation procedures, such as hyperventilation and carbon dioxide inhalation, when they perceive that the procedure is safe and/or controllable (e.g., Rapee, Mattick, & Murrell, 1986; Sanderson, Rapee, & Barlow, 1989), when accompanied by a safe person (Carter, Hollon, Carson, & Shelton, 1995), or after cognitive-behavioral treatment that reduces fears of bodily sensations (Craske, Lang, Aikins, & Mystkowski, 2005; Schmidt, Trakowski, & Staab, 1997). However, manipulations of predictability and controllability did not significantly affect frequency of panic responses among Panic Disorder patients in an epinephrine challenge study (Veltman, Zijderveld, van Dyck, & Bakker, 1998).

Individuals with Panic Disorder sometimes demonstrate memory abnormalities, although the results have been varied and contradictory. Studies of memory bias for physical threat and panic-related words include results supporting the existence of both implicit and explicit memory bias (Cloitre, Shear, Cancienne, & Zeitlin, 1994), explicit but not implicit memory bias (Lundh, Czyzykow, & Ost, 1997; Pauli, Dengler, & Wiedemann, 2005), implicit but not explicit memory bias (Neidhardt & Florin, 1999) and neither type of bias (Rapee, 1994; Baños, Medina & Pascual, 2001). Pauli and colleagues (2005) used event-related brain potentials to investigate implicit memory biases but found no differences between Panic Disorder patients and healthy controls. Differences in experimental methodology and context, instructional sets, sample size, sample demographic, and clinical characteristics may account for differences in these findings.

Recent studies have looked at dual versus single task memory in Panic Disorder patients and compared deficits in Panic Disorder to other anxiety disorders. Among inpatients with severe Panic Disorder (without co-occurring current or past disorders) Lautenbacher and associates (2002) found attentional deficits within a dual-task paradigm for divided attention, but not with a singletask paradigm for selective attention. These deficits also were seen among patients with severe depression (without co-occurring disorders) but not among healthy controls, suggesting that these two severe patient groups show similar deficits in tasks requiring high-attentional load. A small study of memory encoding for social threat and panic-related words found no memory differences between Panic Disorder and Social Phobia patients across various categories of threat encoding, including physical and social threat words (Heinrichs, Hofmann, & Barlow, 2004). The results, which await replication, suggest that threat may be encoded in more general rather than disorder-specific ways in these anxiety disorders. Alternatively, disorder-specific differences in memory encoding may require a larger sample size or more powerful manipulation of memory categories.

Studies utilizing event-related brain-potential EEG methodologies provide a more precise understanding of the time course of panic-related attentional and memory abnormalities. In contrast to healthy controls, panic patients failed to modulate prefrontal event-related brain potentials when responding to words with different affective connotations in a memory recognition task (Windmann, Sakhavat, & Kutas, 2002). The effect was found in the latency range of responding (300–500ms), which generally assumes greater influence of autonomic rather than controlled memory processes, but not at later processing stages (700ms+). Hence, the authors suggest that patients may "adopt conscious strategies to minimize the impact of these early processing abnormalities on overt behaviors" (p. 357). On a cautionary note, half of the patients had mild depression, making it unclear whether the results were due to panic- or depression-related functioning (or both). In a related set of findings, Pauli and colleagues (2005) found that panic patients but not healthy controls—showed early enhanced brain potentials (at 100–200ms and 200 to 400ms) in response to panic-related words. The authors concluded that Panic Disorder may be characterized by an early, efficient, largely automatic processing bias toward panic-related stimuli.

Whereas event-related brain potential studies help identify the timing of cognitive processing abnormalities, fMRI brain imaging studies reveal their location. A small fMRI study of visual exposure to physical threat and neutral words (Maddock, Buonocore, Kile & Garrett, 2003), found that individuals with Panic Disorder showed greater activity in the left posterior cingulate and dorsolateral frontal cortices during threat words than healthy controls. The authors associated these brain regions with the link between affect and verbal memory processing, consistent with the notion of greater memory processing for threatrelated words in Panic Disorder. However, memory for threat words was not tested directly. In an fMRI study of neuroanatomical correlates of the Stroop task across Panic Disorder, Obssessive-Compulsive Disorder (OCD), and hypochondriasis patient groups (van den Heuvel et al., 2005), panic patients showed activation patterns similar to hypochondriacal patients. Specifically, both patient groups displayed increased ventral and dorsal brain region activation, suggesting increased unconscious emotional processing as well as increased cognitive elaboration. The study generally did not find Panic Disorder-specific neuroanatomical correlates; rather, results differentiated a shared panic and hypochondriasis patient pattern from that of OCD patients. The grouping of results may reflect the exaggerated concern over body-related sensations shared by panic and hypochondriasis patients.

Emotional Features of Panic Disorder

The temperament variable most associated with anxiety disorders, including Panic Disorder, is neuroticism (Eysenck, 1967; Gray, 1982a, 1982b), or proneness to experience negative emotions in response to stressors. A closely linked construct is *negative affectivity*, or the tendency to experience an array of negative emotions across a variety of situations, even in the absence of objective stressors (Watson & Clark, 1984). Structural analyses confirm that negative affect is a higher-order factor that distinguishes each anxiety disorder and depression from controls with no mental disorder. The anxiety disorders load differentially on negative affectivity, with more pervasive anxiety disorders such as Generalized Anxiety Disorder loading more heavily, Panic Disorder loading at an intermediate level, and Social Anxiety Disorder loading the least (Brown et al., 1998).³ Lowerorder factors further discriminate among the anxiety disorders, with fear of fear being the factor that discriminates Panic Disorder from other anxiety disorders (Brown, Chorpita, & Barlow, 1998; Zinbarg & Barlow, 1996).

Longitudinal prospective evidence for the role of neuroticism in predicting the onset of Panic Disorder is relatively limited. However, neuroticism was found to predict the onset of panic *attacks* (Hayward, Killen, Kraemer, & Taylor, , 2000; Schmidt, Lerew & Jackson, 1997, 1999), and emotional reactivity at age 3 was a significant variable in the classification of Panic Disorder in 18- to 21-year-old males (Craske, Poulton, Tsao, & Plotkin, 2001). Ongoing studies, such as the Northwestern/UCLA Youth Emotion Project, are currently evaluating the relationships among neuroticism, various other risk factors, and Panic Disorder.

Interaction with Environmental Factors

Environmental factors often interact with biologically and genetically related temperamental factors to increase risk for anxiety disorders, including Panic Disorder. Several environmental factors are reviewed in the following section. Early caregiving and parenting likely relate more to risk for psychopathology in general, whereas abuse and especially childhood experiences with illness may relate more specifically to Panic Disorder. Also, depending on their nature, life stressors may play a general or more direct role in the etiology and maintenance of Panic Disorder.

Early Caregiving and Infant Attachment

Emerging research supports the hypothesis that early experiences with infant care may play an important role in buffering or facilitating later proneness toward anxiety. Specifically, early experiences with prediction and control may be associated with the development of adaptive emotional regulatory capacities in the face of negative stressors. In the context of emotional regulation in infants and children, prediction refers to a contingency (cause-effect) awareness of events in the environment as well as prediction of outcomes by virtue of one's own responding, and control refers to control over emotions and outcomes via one's own attention and behaviors (Craske, 2003). Evidence (e.g., Papousek & Papousek, 1997, 2002; Rochat & Striano, 1999) supports the assertion that parental monitoring and reactivity to infant signals enable infants to learn contingency-response relationships and hence, a sense of predictability. Initially, a sense of predictability may develop from the relationship between an infant's cues and the caretaker's response. Later, this may transfer to contingency knowledge of the relationship between an infant's own behaviors and responses (see Craske, 2003). According to attachment pioneer Bowlby (1969, 1980), caregiver responses that are characterized by unpredictability and unresponsiveness may lead to anxious attachment in which the child is chronically insecure and apprehensive.

However, this theorizing remains largely speculative since experimentally manipulating predictability and control for extended periods of time in infant humans is not ethically possible. Hence, the most compelling evidence of the effects of prolonged lack of predictability and control in infants comes from research with rhesus monkeys. Mineka, Gunnar, and Champoux (1986) demonstrated that infant rhesus monkeys who were granted control over toys and food habituated more quickly to novel stimuli, demonstrated more exploratory behavior in a novel playroom, and demonstrated enhanced coping responses during separation from peers compared to infants without control (but with equal exposure) over toys and food. In the same sample, administration of benzodiazepine inhibitors resulted in increased distress and avoidance among the no control group, whereas the control group showed greater aggression. Mineka and Cook (1986) concluded that experiences with mastery and control buffer the effects of stressful experiences. Longitudinal studies of very young children are needed to more directly establish the link between early caregiving, predictability, and controllability, and subsequent stress reactivity.

Parenting

The literature on infant attachment (Bowlby 1969, 1980) and developmental models of anxiety (Craske, 1999, 2003) predicts that anxious, insecure attachment between caregiver and infant places the infant at risk for chronic emotional regulatory difficulties, including anxiety. General parental styles across situations may contribute to childhood trait anxiety, whereas situationally specific parental behaviors may contribute to the development of particular anxiety disorders in children (Craske, 1999). Although many previous studies examining these hypotheses are fraught with methodological difficulties, more recent studies on parent-child interactions with anxious children and/or anxious parents have been more informative. Though not specific to Panic Disorder, the research on parenting illuminates one risk factor for anxiety disorders in general.

One interesting line of studies examines children's current perceptions of their parents' behavior. Generally, children of anxious parents view their families as more conflictual, less independent, less cohesive, and more controlling than children with healthy, nonanxious parents (see Whaley, Pinto, & Sigman, 1999). In addition, children with anxiety disorders view their families as less independence promoting than non-anxious children. Another study has demonstrated that perceptions of low maternal caring and overprotectiveness were highest among children with anxiety disorders, slightly lower among high trait anxious children and lowest among low trait anxious children (Bennet & Stirling, 1998). These studies, however, are limited by reliance on self-report measures and cross-sectional designs, and they only assess influences of state anxiety on perceptions of family functioning (see Craske, 2003; Wood, McLeod, Sigman, Hwang, & Chu, 2003). Thus, little conclusive evidence exists for linking self-reported parenting style to offspring anxiety (Wood et al.).

A more reliable body of research relies on behavioral coding of observed parent-child interactions. Fortunately, the findings generally converge with the self-report data. A descriptive review by Wood et al. (2003) concluded that observed parental control during parent-child interactions (defined as overprotectiveness, excessive regulation of activities, routines, and decision making) consistently was associated with child shyness and childhood anxiety disorders. Of note, the Wood et al. review did not include a study by Woodruff-Borden, Morrow, Bourland, & Cambron (2002), which found that parents with anxiety disorders were less engaged and more withdrawn though not more controlling than nonanxious parents. Wood et al. (2003) found mixed evidence for associations between parental acceptance (e.g., warmth, praise, active listening, responsiveness) and modeling of anxious behaviors (e.g., catastrophizing, emphasizing danger/ threat, punishing coping behaviors) and childhood anxiety. Finally, Wood et al. (2003) concluded that the directionality and hence causality of the parent-child interactions remains to be determined. Furthermore, the specificity of parental behaviors to risk for anxiety disorders has not yet been demonstrated.

Hudson and Rapee (2001) have suggested that overinvolvement may represent a general parenting response to children who tend toward distress and psychopathology rather than to anxious children in particular. However, more evidence is needed to elucidate disparate findings. For example, Hudson and Rapee observed that mothers of anxious children were more negative, overinvolved, and intrusive than mothers of nonanxious control children. Similar to several other studies (e.g., Hibbs, Hamburger, Kruesi, & Lenane, 1993; but see Stubbe, Zahner, Goldstein, & Leckman, 1993, for the opposite finding), they failed to find a difference in maternal behaviors toward children with anxiety disorders versus children with oppositional disorders. Perhaps the most thorough attempt at disentangling the impact of child and maternal anxiety in a clinical sample is work by Whaley and Sigman (Whaley, Pinto & Sigman, 1999; Moore, Whaley, & Sigman, 2004). In comparison with nonanxious control mothers, anxious mothers were observed to criticize and catastrophize more, and to display less warmth and autonomy-granting toward their children. Maternal behaviors predicted children's anxiety levels, and children's anxiety levels predicted maternal autonomy-granting (Whaley et al., 1999). Finally, mothers of anxietydisordered children, regardless of their own anxiety status, displayed less warmth and autonomy-granting (Moore et al., 2004). Though limited by cross-sectional

design, these findings support an interactive model in which parenting behaviors predict offspring anxiety and offspring anxiety molds parenting behaviors.

Childhood Experiences with Illness and Abuse

Childhood experience with medical illness, personally or via observing others, may increase the risk for the subsequent development of anxiety disorders in general and Panic Disorder in particular. Experience with personal respiratory disturbance and parental illness in childhood predicted Panic Disorder onset at ages 18 or 21 in a large, longitudinal sample (Craske et al., 2001). This finding is consistent with reports of more respiratory disturbance in the history of Panic Disorder patients compared to other anxiety-disordered patients (Verburg, Griez, Meijer & Pols, 1995). Furthermore, a recent study found that first-degree relatives of Panic Disorder patients had a significantly higher prevalence of chronic obstructive respiratory disease and asthma, in particular, compared with first-degree relatives of patients with other anxiety disorders (van Beek, Schruers, & Friez, 2005).

Childhood experiences of sexual and physical abuse may also prime Panic Disorder. Retrospective reports of childhood abuse were associated with Panic Disorder onset at ages 16–21 in a recent longitudinal analysis of New Zealanders from birth to age 21 (Goodwin et al., 2005), a finding consistent with multiple cross-sectional studies in both clinical and community samples (e.g., Bandelow et al., 2002; Kendler et al., 2000; Kessler et al., 1997; Stein et al., 1996; Moisan & Engels, 1995). The link with childhood abuse was stronger for Panic Disorder than for other anxiety disorders such as Social Phobia (Safren et al., 2002; Stein et al., 1996) and Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder (Stein et al., 1996). In addition, some studies found an association between Panic Disorder and exposure to violence between other family members, usually interparental violence (e.g., Moisan & Engels, 1995; Bandelow et al., 2002), whereas the most recent study did not (Goodwin et al, 2005). Retrospective reporting of childhood abuse in all of these studies, however, limits their findings.

Stress

The relationship between external aversive events, also known as *stressful* events, and Panic Disorder has several facets. First, temperamental vulnerabilities, such as neuroticism, may contribute to more frequent and more potent stressful life events (Craske, 2003). Second, stressful life events may precipitate initial panic attacks and contribute to their repeated occurrence over time: As described earlier, a large percentage of individuals with Panic Disorder report the presence of identifiable stressors around the time of the first panic attack (Craske et. al.,

1990; Faravelli & Pallanti, 1989; Pollard et al., 1989; Roy-Byrne, Geraci, & Uhde, 1986; although see Rapee, Litwin, & Barlow, 1990 for contradictory findings). As alluded to earlier, significant childhood adversity and stressful life events are both associated with increased risk for anxiety disorders as well as other psychopathology (Benjamin, Costello, & Warren, 1990; Brown, Harris, & Eales, 1993; Kessler et al., 1997). In addition, variations in anxiety symptom levels over time are influenced by life stress and other environmental factors (Mackinnon, Henderson, & Andrews, 1990). In addition, life stressors over multiple months and years predicted later anxious and depressive symptoms in adult (Cohen, McGowan, Fooskas, & Rose, 1984) though not adolescent samples (Cohen, Burt, & Bjork, 1987; Rueter, Scaramella, Wallace, & Conger, 1999).

A stress-diathesis perspective would hypothesize that stressful life events interact with preexisting vulnerabilities to produce panic attacks and Panic Disorder. For example, autonomic instability (e.g., the tendency to experience cardiac symptoms and shortness of breath) may develop into full-blown panic when instances occur in threatening contexts or following life stressors, when the sensations are more likely to be perceived as threatening (Craske, 1999). According to Bouton, Mineka, and Barlow (2001), evidence suggests that high anxiety elevates the likelihood of panic attacks. Hence, stressful life events may elevate levels of anxiety, particularly in vulnerable individuals, which in turn, increases the risk for panic. From a related perspective, a recent epidemiological study in a Russian sample examined the interaction of anxiety sensitivity, or the tendency to interpret anxiety symptoms as dangerous and threatening, and recent exposure to stressful life events (Zvolensky, Kotov, Antipova, & Schmidt, 2005). The study found that high levels of stressful life events interacted with a subscale of anxiety sensitivity (the physical concerns subscale) to predict panic attacks in the past week, and agoraphobic avoidance, beyond levels of negative affect. Their findings are consistent with a stress-diathesis model. However, the general notion of stress-diathesis does not offer specificity in the etiology of Panic Disorder relative to other anxiety disorders.

Etiological Models of Panic Disorder

Barlow (1988; Barlow, Chorpita, & Turovsky, 1996) characterizes panic attacks as "false alarms," in which a fight-or-flight response is triggered in the absence of threatening stimuli. False alarms in the form of panic attacks occur relatively commonly in the general, nonclinical population (e.g., Wittchen & Essau, 1991; Norton, Cox, & Malan, 1992). This finding begs the question: What accounts for the difference between the majority of individuals, who display little to no distress over panic attacks, versus the minority, who develop Panic Disorder? As described earlier, neuroticism is viewed as a higher-order factor characteristic of all anxiety disorders, with fear of fear being more singular to Panic Disorder. The construct of fear of fear overlaps with the construct of anxiety sensitivity, or the belief that anxiety and its associated symptoms may cause deleterious physical, social, and psychological consequences that extend beyond any immediate physical discomfort during an episode of anxiety or panic (Reiss, 1980). Anxiety sensitivity is elevated across most anxiety disorders, but it is particularly elevated in Panic Disorder (e.g., Taylor, Koch, & McNally, 1992; Zinbarg & Barlow, 1996), especially the physical concerns subscale (Zinbarg, Barlow, & Brown, 1997; Zinbarg & Barlow, 1996). Therefore, beliefs that physical symptoms of anxiety are harmful seem to be particularly relevant to Panic Disorder.

Anxiety sensitivity may be acquired insidiously from a lifetime of direct aversive experiences (such as personal history of significant illness or injury), vicarious observations (such as exposure to significant illnesses or death among family members, or family members who display fear of body sensations through hypochondriasis), and/or informational transmissions (such as parental warnings or overprotectiveness regarding physical well being; Craske & Rowe, 1997). In support, Watt, Stewart, and Cox (1998) reported that levels of anxiety sensitivity in young adulthood were positively correlated with retrospectively reported instrumental and vicarious conditioning experiences in childhood. Specifically, individuals with high anxiety sensitivity reported more learning experiences related to anxiety symptoms in the form of parental reinforcement (instrumental) and parental modeling (classical). Similarly, Watt and Stewart (2000) found that elevated anxiety sensitivity related to retrospectively reported parental responses to somatic symptoms in general but not specifically to anxiety-related symptoms. Unfortunately, data from all of these studies are retrospective and thus vulnerable to biased recall.

Anxiety sensitivity is posited to be a risk factor for Panic Disorder because it primes reactivity to bodily sensations. Consistent with this view is the finding that anxiety sensitivity predicts subjective distress and reported symptomatology in response to procedures that induce strong physical sensations such as carbon dioxide inhalation (Forsyth, Palav, & Duff, 1999), balloon inflation (Messenger & Shean, 1998), and hyperventilation (Sturges, Goetsch, Ridley, & Whittal, 1998), in nonclinical samples, even after controlling for the effects of trait anxiety (Rapee & Medoro, 1994). In addition, several longitudinal studies indicate that high scores on the Anxiety Sensitivity Index predict the onset of panic attacks over 1to 4-year intervals in adolescents (Hayward, Killen, Kraemer, & Taylor, 2000), college students (Maller & Reiss, 1992), and community samples with specific phobias or no anxiety disorders (Ehlers, 1995). The predictive relationship remains after controlling for prior depression (Hayward, Killen, Kraemer & Taylor, 2000). In addition, Anxiety Sensitivity Index scores predicted spontaneous panic attacks and worry about panic during an acute military stressor (i.e., 5 weeks of basic training), even after controlling for history of panic attacks and trait anxiety (Schmidt, Lerew, & Jackson, 1997, 1999).

However, Bouton et al. (2001) argue that the relationship between anxiety sensitivity and panic attacks in these studies is relatively small, not exclusive to panic, and is weaker than the relationship between panic and general neuroticism. Furthermore, these studies have not evaluated the prediction of the development of full Panic Disorder as opposed to panic attacks.

Two other models offer accounts for the persistence of fear of bodily sensations. The first model, put forth primarily by Clark (1986, 1988, 1996), is cognitive in nature. Clark and others (e.g., Salkovskis, 1988) argue that catastrophic misappraisals of bodily sensations, including misinterpretation of panic- and anxiety-related bodily sensations as signs of imminent death, craziness, loss of control, and so forth, are central to the development and maintenance of Panic Disorder. As reviewed earlier, there is extensive evidence that persons with Panic Disorder judge certain bodily sensations to be detrimental. However, Bouton et al. (2001) take issue with Clark's cognitive misappraisal model for multiple reasons, including the fact that the model cannot account for panic attacks that lack conscious cognitive appraisal (e.g., nocturnal panic), without becoming untestable. They also note that although catastrophic cognitions often occur in panic patients, they do not necessarily play a causal role in Panic Disorder. Finally, Bouton et al. critique the cognitive model for not specifying how and when such cognitions are acquired and for whom and under what circumstances they become catastrophic.

The second model was initially put forth by Eysenck more than four decades ago (Eysenck 1960; Eysenck & Rachman, 1965), expanded by Goldstein and Chambless (1978) and recently brought up to date by Bouton et al. (2001). This model emphasizes interoceptive conditioning, or the process by which lowlevel somatic sensations of arousal or anxiety (e.g., elevated heart rate or perspiration) become conditioned stimuli due to their association with intense fear, pain, or distress (Razran, 1961). In the context of Panic Disorder, the result is that early somatic components of the anxiety response come to elicit significant bursts of anxiety or panic. An extensive body of experimental literature attests to the robustness of interceptive conditioning (e.g., Dworkin & Dworkin, 1999), particularly with regard to early interoceptive drug onset cues becoming conditioned stimuli for larger drug effects (e.g., Sokolowska, Siegel, & Kim, 2002). In addition, interoceptive conditioned responses are not dependent on conscious awareness of triggering cues (Razran, 1961) and are observed even under anesthesia in animals (e.g., Lennartz & Weinberger, 1992; Shibuki, Hamamura, & Yagi, 1984; Uno, 1970) and humans (e.g., Block, Ghoneim, Fowles, Kumar, & Pathak, 1987). Within this model, slight changes in relevant bodily functions that are not consciously recognized may elicit conditioned fear

and panic due to previous pairings with the terror of panic (Barlow, 1988; Bouton, Mineka, & Barlow, 2001). Nevertheless, some researchers argue that the acquisition of interoceptive conditioned responding requires conscious awareness (Irie, Maeda, & Nagata, 2001; Lovibond & Shanks, 2002).

Expanding on this view, Bouton et al. (2001) argue that the similarity between conditioned and unconditioned stimuli creates very strong, easily conditioned responses, as occurs when initial bodily symptoms of panic (conditioned stimulus) signal the rest of the panic attack (unconditioned stimulus). Drawing on the extensive animal and human learning literature, they explain that interoceptive cues do not always produce conditioned panic due to factors such as the presence of safety signals and context effects (e.g., performance in one context does not always generalize to performance in another context). In addition, they cite evidence from Öhman and Mineka (2001) and others (e.g., LeDoux, 1996) to argue against the notion that conditioning necessarily involves propositional knowledge and cognitive awareness. Rather, Bouton et al. (2001) argue that catastrophic misappraisals may accompany panic attacks because they are part of the range of responses linked to panic or because they have been encouraged or reinforced. Such thoughts may become conditioned stimuli that trigger anxiety or they may simply be part of the conditioned response to anxiety- and panic-related cues.

Assessment of Panic Disorder

Interviews

An in-depth interview is the first step in establishing diagnostic and behavioral-cognitive profiles. The value of structured interviews lies in their contribution to differential diagnosis and interrater reliability. Several semi- and fully structured interviews exist. The Schizophrenia and Affective Disorders Schedule-Life Time Version (Anxiety Modified) produces reliable diagnoses for most of the anxiety disorders (Generalized Anxiety Disorder and simple phobia being the exceptions Manuzza et al., 1989), as does the Structured Clinical Interview for *DSM-IV*, which covers all of the mental disorders (First, Spitzer, Gibbon, & Williams, 1994). However, the semistructured interview that most specifically focuses on assessment and differential diagnosis among the anxiety disorders is the Anxiety Disorders Interview Schedule-Fourth Edition (ADIS-IV; DiNardo, Brown, & Barlow, 1994). In addition to its primary focus on anxiety disorders, the ADIS-IV also evaluates mood disorders and somatoform disorders, as well as screens for psychotic and drug conditions. Differential diagnosis among the anxiety disorders is sometimes difficult because, as described earlier, panic is a ubiquitous phenomenon (Barlow, 1988), occurring across a wide variety of emotional disorders. It is not uncommon for persons with specific phobias, Generalized Anxiety Disorder, Obsessive-Compulsive Disorder, and Posttraumatic Stress Disorder to report panic attacks. Hence, the ADIS-IV facilitates a reliable method of gathering information to make differential diagnoses among the anxiety disorders and also offers the ability to distinguish between clinical and subclinical presentations of a disorder. Interrater agreement ranges from satisfactory to excellent for the various anxiety disorders using this instrument (Brown, DiNardo, Lehman, & Campbell, 2001).

Clinical Rating Scales

There are no clinical rating scales specific to Panic Disorder and agoraphobia. However, a clinical rating of severity of distress and disablement (CSR; 0 = not at all, 8 = extreme) is often made based on the information gathered from the diagnostic interview. A CSR rating of 4 or higher indicates that the individual meets diagnostic criteria for a given disorder and evidences clinically significant distress and/or disablement stemming from the disorder. With proper training procedures, adequate reliabilities have been demonstrated for clinical severity ratings from the ADIS-IV interview (Brown, DiNardo, Lehman, & Campbell, 2001).

Self-Report and Behavioral Measures

Several standardized self-report inventories provide useful information for treatment planning, as well as being sensitive markers of therapeutic change. The Anxiety Sensitivity Index (Reiss, Peterson, Gursky, & McNally, 1986) has received wide acceptance as a trait measure of threatening beliefs about bodily sensations. It has good psychometric properties and tends to discriminate Panic Disorder from other types of anxiety disorders (e.g., Taylor, Koch, & McNally, 1992; Telch, Sherman, & Lucas, 1989). More specific information about which particular bodily sensations are feared the most, and what specific misappraisals occur most often, can be obtained from the Body Sensations and Agoraphobia Cognitions Questionnaires (Chambless, Caputo, Bright & Gallagher, 1984). Extensive psychometric properties (Chambless et al., Arrindell, 1993), discriminate between individuals with panic and agoraphobia versus other anxiety disorders (Chambless & Gracely, 1989), and are sensitive to change following treatment (Chambless et al., 1984). Fears of interoceptive stimuli (e.g, caffeine, exercise) can be measured by the Albany Panic and Phobia Questionnaire, which has demonstrated good to excellent Cronbach alphas and adequate test-retest reliability (Rapee, Craske, & Barlow, 1995). The Mobility Inventory (Chambless, Caputo, Jasin, Gracely, & Williams, 1985) lists agoraphobic situations that are rated based on degree of avoidance, when alone, and when accompanied. This instrument is useful for establishing in vivo exposure hierarchies. Finally, Newman and colleagues (2006) recently developed the Panic Disorder Self-Report (PDSR), a self-report diagnostic measure based on *DSM-IV* Panic Disorder criteria. The PDSR demonstrates excellent sensitivity and specificity in diagnosing Panic Disorder, strong agreement with a structured diagnostic interview, and good retest reliability and convergent and discriminant validity (Newman et al., 2006).

Behavioral Tests

The behavioral test is a useful measure of degree of avoidance of specific situations. Behavioral approach tests can be standardized or individually tailored. The standardized behavioral test for agoraphobia usually involves walking or driving a particular route, such as a 1-mile loop around the clinic setting. Anxiety levels are rated at regular intervals and actual distance walked/driven is measured. The disadvantage is that the specific task may not be relevant to all clients, and hence, the value of individually tailored tasks that usually entail attempts at three to five individualized situations that the client has identified as being anywhere from somewhat to extremely difficult. These might include driving two exits on a freeway, waiting in a bank line, or shopping in a local supermarket for 15 minutes. Maximum levels of anxiety and degree of approach (i.e., refused task, attempted but escaped from task, or completed task) are assessed for each situation. Individually tailored behavioral tests are more informative for clinical practice, although they confound between-subject comparisons for research purposes. Standardized behavioral tests for individuals with Panic Disorder target interoceptive sensations and typically include exercises such as spinning, running in place, and hyperventilating. As with the behavioral tests for agoraphobia, anxiety levels are recorded continuously along with the duration for which the client continued each exercise.

Standardized and individually tailored behavioral tests are susceptible to demand biases for fear and avoidance prior to treatment and for improvement after treatment (Borkovec, Weerts, & Bernstein, 1977). On the other hand, behavioral tests are an important supplement to self-report of agoraphobic avoidance because clients tend to underestimate what they can actually achieve (Craske, Rapee, & Barlow, 1988). In addition, behavioral tests often reveal information of which the individual is not fully aware, and yet is important for treatment planning. For example, the safety-seeking behavior of remaining close to supports such as railings or walls may not be apparent until observing the client walk through a shopping mall.

Ongoing Assessment

Self-monitoring is a very important part of assessment and treatment for Panic Disorder and agoraphobia. Retrospective recall of past episodes of panic and anxiety, especially when made under anxious conditions, may inflate estimates of panic frequency and intensity (Margraf et al., 1987; Rapee, Craske, & Barlow, 1990). Moreover, such inflation may contribute to apprehension about future panic. Thus, to the degree that ongoing self-monitoring yields more accurate, less inflated estimates, it is a therapeutic tool (see Craske & Tsao, 1999, for a comprehensive review of self-monitoring for panic and anxiety). Also, ongoing self-monitoring is believed to contribute to increased objective selfawareness that is essential to cognitive behavioral therapy approaches.

To assess the course and rate of change in treatment, as well as to investigate the mechanisms or mediators by which a given treatment exerts its effects (see Kraemer et al., 2002), it also is important to include psychometrically sound assessment of anxiety symptoms during treatment. Ongoing measures, also known as *process measures*, can be administered to patients at regular intervals during treatment to assess changes in panic symptomology. The Anxiety Sensitivity Index (Reiss et al., 1986) is one example of an appropriate symptom process measure for treatment of panic disorder. Finally, particularly at treatment follow-up, assessments may benefit from including broader quality of life (QOL) measures that capture the wider impact of Panic Disorder treatment. For example, the Quality of Life Inventory (Frisch, Cornell, Villanueva, & Retzlaff, 1992) assesses seventeen domains including the quality of clients' family relationships, friendships, and sense of meaning and life direction, whereas the frequently used, well-validated SF–36 (Ware, 1993; McHorney, Ware & Raczek, 1993) assesses physical functioning, mental health, social functioning, vitality, and general health.

Neurobiological Assessment

A medical evaluation is generally recommended because several medical conditions should be ruled out before assigning the diagnosis of Panic Disorder and agoraphobia. These include thyroid conditions, caffeine or amphetamine intoxication, drug withdrawal, or pheochromocytoma (a rare, adrenal gland tumor). Furthermore, certain medical conditions can exacerbate Panic Disorder and agoraphobia, although panic and agoraphobia are likely to continue even when they are under medical control. Mitral valve prolapse, asthma, allergies, and hypoglycemia fall into this category. These medical conditions exacerbate Panic Disorder and agoraphobia to the extent that they elicit the types of physical sensations that are feared. For example, mitral valve prolapse sometimes produces the sensation of a heart flutter, asthma produces shortness of breath, and hypoglycemia produces dizziness and weakness.

Ongoing physiological measures are not very practical tools for clinicians, but can provide important information. In particular, the discrepancy described earlier between reports of symptoms and actual physiological arousal can serve as a therapeutic demonstration of the role of attention and appraisal in symptom production. Similarly, actual recordings provide data to disconfirm misappraisals such as "my heart feels like its going so fast that it will explode" or "I'm sure my blood pressure is so high that I could have a stroke at any minute." Finally, baseline levels of physiological functioning, which are sometimes dysregulated in anxious individuals, may be sensitive measures of treatment outcome (e.g., Craske et al., 2005).

Interventions

Psychological

The most widely studied and validated psychotherapeutic treatment for Panic Disorder is cognitive-behavioral therapy (CBT) in its various forms. The two major forms of CBT have been Barlow and Craske's Panic Control Treatment (PCT), and Clark's cognitive therapy for panic. Both treatments emphasize components of psychoeducation about panic to correct misconceptions regarding panic symptoms, cognitive restructuring to identify and correct distortions in thinking, and interoceptive exposure to feared bodily sensations (e.g., palpitations, dyspnea, dizziness) and in vivo exposure to feared situations (e.g., unfamiliar areas, driving) to obtain corrective information that disconfirms fearful misappraisals and eventually lessens fear responding. Breathing retraining as a means for helping patients cope with panic and anxiety is sometimes included. Although PCT and Clark's cognitive therapy for Panic Disorder have not been directly compared, the major difference lies in the reliance of PCT on both cognitive and conditioning models, with behavioral exposure functioning as a primary agent of therapeutic change. In Clark's model, cognitive models are more central and behavioral exposure serves as a vehicle for cognitive change.

Results for both of these forms of CBT typically yield panic-free rates in the range of 70% to 80% of those treated and high end-state rates (i.e., within

normative ranges of functioning) in the range of 50% to 70% (e.g., Barlow, Craske, Cerny, & Klosko, 1989; Clark et al., 1994). Two meta-analyses reported very large effect sizes of 1.55 and 0.90 for CBT for panic disorder (Mitte, 2005; Westen & Morrison, 2001). Also, results generally are maintained over follow-up intervals for as long as 2 years (Craske, Brown, & Barlow, 1991). This contrasts with the higher relapse rates typically found with medication approaches to the treatment of panic disorder, particularly high-potency benzodiazepines (e.g., Gould, Otto & Pollack, 1995). One analysis of individual profiles over time suggested a less optimistic picture, in that one third of clients who were panic-free 24 months after CBT had experienced a panic attack in the preceding year, and 27% had sought additional treatment for panic over that same interval of time (Brown & Barlow, 1995). Nevertheless, this approach to analysis did not take into account the general trend toward continuing improvement over time. Thus, rates of eventual therapeutic success may be underestimated when success is defined by continuous panic-free status since the end of active treatment.

The effectiveness of CBT extends to patients who experience nocturnal panic attacks (Craske et al., 2005). Also, CBT has proven very helpful in lowering relapse rates upon discontinuation of high-potency benzodiazapines (e.g., Otto, Pollack, Sachs, Reiter, Meltzer-Brody, & Rosenbaum, 1993; Spiegel, Bruce, Gregg, & Nuzzarello, 1994). Moreover, treatment is effective even when there is comorbidity; indeed, some studies indicate that comorbidity does not reduce the effectiveness of CBT for Panic Disorder (e.g., Brown, Antony, & Barlow, 1995; McLean et al., 1998). Furthermore, CBT results in improvements in comorbid conditions (Brown, Antony & Barlow, 1995; Tsao, Lewin, & Craske, 1998; Tsao, Mystkowski, Zucker, & Craske, 2002, 2005). In other words, co-occurring symptoms of depression and other anxiety disorders tend to improve after CBT for panic disorder. However, one study assessing patients 2 years after treatment suggests that the benefits for comorbid conditions may lessen over time (Brown et al., 1995). Nonetheless, the general finding of improvement in comorbidity suggests the value of remaining focused on Panic Disorder treatment even when comorbidity is present, since the comorbidity will be benefited as well (for at least up to 1 year). In fact, there is preliminary evidence to suggest that attempting to simultaneously address panic disorder along with comorbidity (using CBT, tailored to each disorder) may be less effective on average than remaining focused on Panic Disorder (Craske et al., in press), although this finding is in need of replication.

Generally, CBT for agoraphobia involves more situational exposure than CBT for Panic Disorder alone. Randomized controlled studies of CBT for agoraphobia generally yield slightly less effective results than CBT for Panic Disorder with no or minimal agoraphobia (e.g., Williams & Falbo, 1996). Nonetheless, the trends suggest continuing improvement over time, after CBT is over. Furthermore, Fava, Zielezny, Savron, and Grandi (1995) found that only 18.5% of their panic-free clients relapsed over a period of 5 to 7 years after exposure-based treatment for agoraphobia. Some research suggests that the trend for improvement after acute treatment is facilitated by involvement of significant others in every aspect of treatment (e.g., Cerny, Barlow, Craske, & Himadi, 1987). Recently, an intensive 8-day treatment, using a sensation-focused PCT approach was developed for individuals with moderate to severe agoraphobia, and initial results are promising (Morissette, Spiegel, & Neinrichs, 2005).

Attempts have been made to dismantle the different components of CBT for panic and agoraphobia. The results are somewhat confusing, and depend on the samples used (e.g., mild versus severe levels of agoraphobia) and the exact comparisons made. It appears that the cognitive therapy component may be effective (e.g., Williams & Falbo, 1996) even when conducted in full isolation from exposure and behavioral procedures (e.g., Salkovskis, Clark, & Hackman, 1991), and is more effective than applied relaxation with exposure (e.g., Arntz & van den Hout, 1996; Clark et al., 1994). On the other hand, some studies find that cognitive therapy does not improve outcome when added to in vivo exposure treatment for agoraphobia (e.g., van den Hout, Arntz, & Hoekstra, 1994; Rijken, Kraaimaat, Ruiter, & Garssen, 1992). A recent meta-analysis (Chambless & Peterman, 2004<AQ: Reference entry needed>) found no differences between CBT and behavioral therapies in the treatment of Panic Disorder. It appears that exposure alone, without the aid of tools such as cognitive restructuring or relaxation training, is effective for Panic Disorder and agoraphobia (e.g. Rijken, Kraaimaat, de Ruiter, & Garssen, 1992; van den Hout, Arntz, & Hoekstra, 1994). Another study found that breathing skills training and repeated interoceptive exposure to hyperventilation did not improve outcome beyond in vivo exposure alone for agoraphobia (de Beurs, van Balkom, Lange, Koele, & van Dyke, 1995), and we found that breathing skills training was slightly less effective than interoceptive exposure when each was added to cognitive restructuring (Craske, Rowe, Lewin, Noriega-Dimitri, 1997). Clearly, more dismantling research is needed

Group formats appear to be as effective as individual treatment formats for CBT for panic and agoraphobia (Neron, Lacroix, & Chaput, 1995; Lidren et al., 1994<AQ: Reference entry needed>). One possible exception is that individual, one-to-one formats may be better in the long term with respect to symptoms of generalized anxiety and depression (Neron et al., 1995). However, more direct comparison between group and individual formats is warranted before firm conclusions can be made.

Most of the Panic Disorder treatment studies described in the previous sections averaged around 11 to 12 treatment sessions. Four to six sessions of PCT (Craske, Maidenberg, & Bystritsky, 1995; Roy-Byrne et al., 2005) seemed effective also, although the results were not as strong as those typically seen with 11 or 12 treatment sessions. On the other hand, another study demonstrated equally effective results when delivering CBT for Panic Disorder across the standard 12 sessions versus approximately 6 sessions (Clark, Salkovskis, Hackmann, Wells, Ludgate, & Gelder, 1999), and a pilot study has indicated good effectiveness with intensive CBT over two days (Deacon & Abramowitz, 2006).

Self-directed treatments, with minimal direct therapist contact, are very beneficial to highly motivated and educated clients (e.g., Ghosh & Marks, 1987; Gould & Clum, 1995; Gould, Clum, & Shapiro, 1993). Computerized versions of CBT for Panic Disorder now exist. Computer-assisted and Internet versions of CBT are effective for Panic Disorder (e.g., Richards, Klein, & Carlbring, 2003). In one study, a 4-session computer-assisted CBT for Panic Disorder was less effective than a 12-session PCT at posttreatment, although they were equally effective at follow-up (Newman, Kenardy, Herman, & Taylor, 1997). However, findings from computerized programs for emotional disorders in general indicate that such treatments are more acceptable and successful when they are combined with therapist involvement (e.g., Carlbring, Ekselius, & Andersson, 2003).

Biological

Based on 19 placebo-controlled randomized clinical trials (Roy-Byrne & Cowley, 2002), SSRIs are the medication treatment of choice for Panic Disorder. Meta-analyses and reviews have reported medium to large effect sizes compared to placebo (e.g., Mitte, 2005; Bakker, van Balkom, & Spinhoven, 2002). The majority of trials have been short term, although several have examined and confirmed longer-term efficacy up to 1 year.

Benzodiazepines are effective agents for Panic Disorder as well. They work rapidly, within days to 1 week, and are even better tolerated than the very tolerable SSRI class of agents. However, they are limited by their risk of physiologic dependence and withdrawal, and the risk of abuse (Roy-Byrne & Cowley, 2002)

Numerous studies show clearly that discontinuation of medication results in relapse in a significant proportion of patients, with placebo-controlled discontinuation studies showing rates between 25% and 50% within 6 months, depending on study design (Roy-Byrne & Cowley, 2002). In addition, SSRIs, SNRIs, and benzodiazepines are associated with a time-limited withdrawal syndrome (considerably worse for the benzodiazepines), which itself may serve as an interoceptive stimulus that promotes or contributes to Panic Disorder relapse.

In terms of comparison between pharmacological and psychological approaches, a recent meta-analysis of 21 randomized trials involving over 1,700 patients with Panic Disorder With or Without Agoraphobia clearly showed the combined treatment with antidepressants and psychotherapy (behavior, CBT and "other") was superior to antidepressant alone and to psychotherapy alone in the acute phase (Furukawa, Watanabe, & Churchill, 2006). After treatment discontinuation, combined treatment was superior to medication only but was not different from psychotherapy alone, and specifically CBT alone. Furthermore, following medication discontinuation, the combination of medication and CBT fared worse than CBT alone, suggesting the possibility that state- or context-dependent learning in the presence of medication may have attenuated the new learning that occurs during CBT.

Findings from the combination of fast-acting anxiolytics, especially the high-potency benzodiazepines, with behavioral treatments for Panic Disorder With Agoraphobia are contradictory (e.g., Marks et al., 1993; Wardle, Hayward, Higgitt, Stabl, Blizard, & Gray, 1994<AQ: Reference entry needed>). Nevertheless, several studies reliably show detrimental effects from chronic, naturalistic use of benzodiazepines on short-term and long-term outcome from cognitive-behavioral treatments for panic or agoraphobia (e.g., Fava et al., 2001; Otto, Pollack, & Sabatino, 1996; van Balkom, de Beurs, Koele, Lange, & van Dyck, 1996<AQ: Reference entry needed>; Westra, Stewart, & Conrad., 2002, for as- needed benzodiazepine use). Specifically, there is evidence for more attrition, poorer memory for CBT-related psychoeducation materials, poorer outcome, and greater relapse when cognitive-behavioral therapy is conducted in the context of the chronic, naturalistic use of benzodiazepines.

Prevention

Prevention for high-risk samples might not only halt the development of Panic Disorder but also ultimately prevent the development of other psychological disorders, since people who report panic attacks are at risk for other psychological problems including other anxiety disorders, depression, and substance abuse (e.g., Warren & Zgourides, 1988<AQ: Reference entry needed>). Moreover, comorbid diagnoses such as depressive disorders (e.g., Roy-Byrne, Stang, Wittchen, Ustun, et al., 2000<AQ: Reference entry needed>), and substance abuse (e.g., Marshall, 1997<AQ: Reference entry needed>) are believed to sometimes develop as a direct function of having Panic Disorder.

In addition, prevention using a brief cognitive-behavioral intervention is likely to be highly cost efficient. Cognitive-behavioral therapy is among the least expensive treatments for Panic Disorder (Gould, Otto, & Pollack, 1995). Prevention may cut indirect costs as well, given that people with Panic Disorder are heavy users of the medical system (e.g., Roy-Byrne et al., 1999). However, research on prevention is very limited.

Swinson, Soulios, Cox, and Kuch (1992)<AQ: Reference entry needed> briefly intervened with 33 patients who attended an emergency room with panic attacks. Within 24 hours of the panic attack, 17 were assigned to an exposure condition and the remaining 16 were assigned to a reassurance condition. The latter were informed that what they had experienced was a panic attack, and that a panic attack is not dangerous. Participants in the exposure group were told the same reassuring information, and were advised that the most effective way to reduce fear is to confront the situation in which the panic attack occurred. One week later, the mean frequency of panic attacks decreased from 2.53 to .76 in the exposure group, but increased in the reassurance group from 2.50 to 3.38. This pattern was consistent over time, 3 months and 6 months later, and generalized to measures of anxiety (Swinson et al., 1992). Unfortunately, neither diagnostic evaluations nor independent assessments were conducted.

We (Gardenswartz & Craske, 2002conducted a selective/indicated prevention study that targeted Panic Disorder. College students were considered at risk for developing Panic Disorder if they reported at least one panic attack in the past year and had at least moderate anxiety sensitivity (as assessed by the Anxiety Sensitivity Index). Half of the participants (*n*=61) attended a 5-hour, group cognitive-behavioral workshop, modified from empirically supported cognitive-behavioral treatment for Panic Disorder (Barlow & Cerny, 1998). The other half was wait-listed. Six months later, 13.6% of the individuals in the control group developed Panic Disorder, as opposed to only 1.8% of individuals in the workshop group.

Summary and Future Directions

As the many studies discussed in this chapter attest, Panic Disorder enjoys the position as the most-researched anxiety disorder. The outgrowth of this intensive research includes an emerging understanding of the interplay between environmental and individual factors in shaping risk for Panic Disorder, converging evidence on the neurocircuitry of fear and panic, an integration of the latest advances in learning theory into models of etiology and maintenance, and the development of effective cognitive behavioral and pharmacological treatments. Nevertheless, despite a proliferation of studies and technological advances in methodology there remain areas in which the research is contradictory, including panic-related memory functioning and multiple areas of panic-related psychophysiology.

Looking toward the future, multiple new and continuing areas of investigation may attract increasing attention from researchers and clinicians alike. One rapidly expanding research area involves the role of genetics, and particularly the interaction of genetic and environmental factors, in increasing the risk for Panic Disorder. Future studies may range from investigating the interaction of specific genes with known environmental risk factors, to linking our emerging understanding of parent and child interactions in the etiology and maintenance of anxiety disorders (e.g. Whaley, Pinto & Sigman, 1999; Moore, Whaley, & Sigman, 2004) with specific genetic risk factors (i.e., familial/environmental x individual x genetics interactions). New studies on genetics and environment interactions for anxiety disorders are emerging on a monthly basis, and although few currently focus specifically on Panic Disorder, more focused studies likely will emerge as the field expands. Additional potentially emerging areas include associations between in-utero, birth-related and early childhood trauma and genetics in increasing risk for Panic Disorder, as well as other forms of psychopathology.

On the treatment front, the role of experiential avoidance as a risk and maintenance factor for Panic Disorder has led to the development of a new line of acceptance-oriented behavioral treatments for anxiety disorders. One of the most prominent of the new therapies is Acceptance and Commitment Therapy (ACT; Hayes, Strosahl & Wilson, 1999). Eifert and Forsyth (2005) recently developed an ACT-based treatment manual for anxiety disorders, including Panic Disorder, and a randomized control trial is currently underway to test its efficacy. Whether ACT represents an improvement over traditional CBT therapies remains to be seen. Regardless, comparing ACT and traditional CBT presents an opportunity to examine the treatment process and outcome effects of mastery and control- versus acceptance-based strategies for Panic Disorder.

Acceptance and Commitment Therapy draws heavily on eastern-based mindfulness traditions.⁴ Mindfulness meditation, in which mindfulness states are intentionally cultivated, forms the basis of an 8-week Mindfulness Based Stress Reduction (MBSR) program originally developed by Kabat-Zinn (1990) for patients with chronic pain. Since its initial application, MBSR has been applied to the treatment of Panic Disorder and Generalized Anxiety Disorder (Kabat-Zinn et al., 1992; Miller, Fletcher, & Kabat-Zinn, 1995), as well as an increasingly wide variety of psychological and medical conditions (e.g., Ramel, Goldin, Carmona & McQuaid, 2004; Robert-McComb, Tacon, Randolph & Caldera, 2004; Speca, Carolson, Goodey, & Angen, 2000). However, MBSR lacks randomized controlled trials for anxiety disorders, including Panic Disorder. Future research may see a proliferation of studies on ACT, MBSR, and other mindfulness and acceptance-oriented therapies for Panic Disorder (and other anxiety disorders), including much-needed randomized controlled trials. In addition, behavioral, physiological, and brain experimental studies investigating mechanisms by which mindfulness and acceptance effect attention, mood, and emotional regulation (e.g. Davidson et al., 2003; Eifert & Heffner, 2003; Broderick, 2005; Takahashi et al., 2005; Arch & Craske, 2006) are emerging. Finally, interest in experiential avoidance and mindfulness will likely spawn new self-report and behavioral measures to assess and validate these constructs; several such measures have

emerged already (e.g., Brown & Ryan, 2003; Hayes et al., 2004; Baer, Smith, Hopkins, Krietemeyer, & Toney, 2006).

With the emergence of new therapy treatments and the existence of proven, effective ones (e.g., CBT), it is important to consider that treatments are only as effective as the patients and clinicians who know about and use them. Despite the existence for over a decade of effective cognitive-behavioral treatments, a significant portion of individuals with Panic Disorder never receive CBT or any other form of treatment. In fact, many individuals with Panic Disorder are never treated by mental health professionals, but nearly 85% initially seek medical help for their symptoms (Katerndahl & Realini, 1995). Notably, Panic Disorder is not well recognized in medical settings (e.g., 80% nonrecognition in general medical patients referred for psychiatric evaluation, Roy-Byrne & Katon, 2000; 98%) not diagnosed in emergency departments, Fleet et al., 1997<AQ: Reference entry needed>) and is not well treated (e.g., Yelin et al., 1996<AQ: Reference entry needed>). Hence, panic researchers have begun adapting treatment models to the medical locations in which most (help-seeking) panic patients are seen: primary care and emergency room settings (Craske, Roy-Byrne, Stein, Donald-Sherbourne, Bystritsky, Katon, & Sullivan, 2002<AQ: Reference entry needed>). Adaptations that depart from traditional clinical trials include treatment in the medical setting rather than a mental health clinic and use of mental health trainees with minimal treatment experience or nonmental health professionals, such as primary care nurses, for conducting therapy and managing care. A recent multisite Panic Disorder treatment study conducted in a primary care setting demonstrated that an enhanced CBT and medication-based intervention was more effective across a number of outcome measures than usual care (Roy-Byrne, Craske, Stein, Sullivan et al., 2005), a finding that replicates an earlier medication-only study (Roy-Byrne, Katon, Cowley & Russo, 2002). Given the significant unmet needs of medical patients for recognition and treatment of Panic Disorder and the success of these early trials, future work in this direction is expected to continue.

Finally, given the enormous financial, quality of life, familial. and societal costs of Panic Disorder (e.g., Greenberg et al., 1999; Ettigi, Meyerhoff, Chirban, Jacob & Wilsons, 1997; Katerndahl & Realini, 1997), efforts toward early detection and prevention of panic disorder will continue to demand the attention of researchers, mental health professionals, and policymakers. Significant strides have been made in the identification of general risk and buffering factors in the development of anxiety disorders (see Zucker & Craske, 2001). Individuals at risk may be defined broadly (e.g., females, high neurotics, high stress) or more narrowly (e.g., children of parents with anxiety disorders, individuals with disorder-specific genetic profiles or high-anxiety sensitivity). Similarly, prevention and early detection efforts can be directly broadly through mass media or school-based programs, or more specifically, toward individuals at risk for anxiety disorders (selective prevention) or individuals with subclinical anxiety

symptoms (indicated prevention). Greater attention is currently needed to identify the most effective timing for prevention efforts, buffers that prevent high-risk or symptomatic individuals from developing full-blown anxiety disorders, and whether prevention efforts are better directed at broad vulnerability to anxiety or vulnerability to specific anxiety disorders (Zucker & Craske).

REFERENCES

- Abelson, J. L., & Curtis, G. C. (1996). Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis activity in panic disorder: 24-hour secretion of corticotropin and cortisol. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 53, 323–331.
- Abelson, J. L., Curtis, G. C., & Uhde, T. W. (2005). Twenty-four hour growth hormone secretion in patients with panic disorder. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *30*, 72–79.
- Abelson, J. L., Glitz, D., Cameron, O. G., Lee, M. A., Bronzo, M., & Curtis, G. C. (1992). Endocrine, cardiovascular, and behavioral responses to clonodine in patients with panic disorder. *Biological Psychiatry*, 32, 18–25.
- Abelson, J. L., Khan, S., Liberzon, I., & Young, E. A. (2006). HPA axis activity in patients with panic disorder: Review and synthesis of four studies. *Depression and Anxiety*, 0, 1–11.
- Alvarenga, M. E., Richards, J. C., Lambert, G., & Esler, M. D. (2006). Psychophysiological mechanisms in panic disorder: A correlative analysis of noradrenaline spillover, neuronal noradrenaline reuptake, power spectral analysis of heart rate variability, and psychological variables. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 68, 8–16.
- American Psychiatric Association. (1994). *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders, (4th. Ed.)*. Washington, DC: Author.
- Amering, M., Katschnig, H., Berger, P., Windhaber, J., Baischer, W., & Dantendorfer, K. (1997). Embarrassment about the first panic attack predicts agoraphobia in panic disorder patients. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 35, 517–521.
- Anastasiades, P., Clark, D. M., Salkovskis, P. M., Middleton, H., Hackman, A., Gelder, M. G., et al.<Note: last author deleted, here and in following entries, because APA style allows a maximum of 6 authors per entry> (1990). Psychophysiological responses in panic and stress. *Journal of Psychophysiology*, *4*, 331–338.
- Anders, S., Martin, L., Erb, M., Grodd, W., & Birbaumer, N. (2004). Brain activity underlying emotional valence and arousal: A response-related fMRI study. *Human Brain Mapping*, 23, 200–209.
- Arch, J. J., & Craske, M. G. (2006). Mechanisms of mindfulness: Emotion regulation following a focused breathing induction. *Behavior Research and Therapy*, 44, 1849-1858.

- Arrindell, W. A. (1993). The fear of fear concept: Stability, retest artifact and predictive power. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *31*, 139–148.
- Arntz, A., & van den Hout, M. (1996). Psychological treatments of panic disorder without agoraphobia: Cognitive therapy versus applied relaxation. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *34*, 113–121.
- Asmundson, G. J., Sandler, L. S., Wilson, K. G., & Walker, J. R. (1992). Selective attention toward physical threat in patients with panic disorder. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders, 6*, 295–303.
- Asmundson, G. J. G., & Stein, M. B. (1994). Vagal attenuation in panic disorder: An assessment of parasympathetic nervous system function and subjective reactivity to respiratory manipulations. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, *56*, 187–193.
- Baer, R. A., Smith, G. T., Hopkins, J., Krietemeyer, J., & Toney, L. (2006). Using self-report assessment methods to explore facets of mindfulness. *Assessment*, 13, 27–45.
- Bakker, A., van Balkom, A. J. L. M., & Spinhoven, P. (2002). SSRIs vs. TCAs in the treatment of panic disorder: A meta-analysis. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *106*, 163–167.
- Bandelow, B., Spath, C., Tichaner, G. A., Brooks, A., Hajak, G., & Ruther, E. (2002). Early traumatic life events, parental attitudes, family history, and birth risk factors in patients with panic disorder. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, *43*, 269–278.
- Baños, R. M., Medina, P. M., & Pascual, J. (2001). Explicit and implicit memory biases in depression and panic disorder. *Behaviour Research and Therapy, 29,* 61–74.
- Barlow, D. H. (1988). *Anxiety and its disorders: The nature and treatment of anxiety and panic.* NewYork: Guilford.
- Barlow, D. H. (2002). *Anxiety and its disorders: The nature and treatment of anxiety and panic,* 2nd ed. New York: Guilford.
- Barlow, D. H., Brown, T. A., & Craske, M. G. (1994). Definitions of panic attacks and panic disorder in the DSM-IV: Implications for research. Journal of Abnormal Psychology, 103, 553–564.
- Barlow, D. H. & Cerny, J. A. (1988). *Psychological treatment of panic*. New York, NY: Guilford Press.
- Barlow, D. H., Chorpita, B. P., & Turovsky, J. (1996). Fear, panic, anxiety, and disorders of emotion. In D. A. Hope (Ed.), *Perspectives on anxiety, panic, and fear* (The 43rd Annual Nebraska Symposium on Motivation), (pp. 251–328). Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press.

- Barlow, D. H., Craske, M. G., Cerny, J. A., & Klosko, J. S. (1989). Behavioral treatment of panic disorder. *Behavior Therapy*, 20, 261–282.
- Behar K. L., Rothman D. L, Petersen K. F., Hooten M., Delaney R., Petroff O. A. C., et al. (1999). Preliminary evidence of low cortical GABA levels in localized 1H-MR spectra of alcohol-dependent and hepatic encephalopathy patients. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 156, 952–954.
- Benjamin, R. S., Costello, E. J., & Warren, M. (1990). Anxiety disorders in a pediatric sample. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 4, 293–316.
- Bennet, A., & Stirling, J. (1998). Vulnerability factors in the anxiety disorders. *British Journal of Medical Psychology*, 71, 311–321.
- Biederman, J., Faraone, S. V., Marrs, A., & Moore, P. (1997). Panic disorder and agoraphobia in consecutively referred children and adolescents. *Journal of the American Academy of Child & Adolescent Psychiatry*, 36, 214–223.
- Block, R. I., Ghoneim, M. M., Fowles, D. C., Kumar, V., & Pathak, D. (1987). Effects of a subanesthetic concentration of nitrous oxide on establishment, elicitation, and semantic and phonemic generalization of classically conditioned skin conductance responses. *Pharmacology, Biochemistry & Behavior, 28*, 7–14.
- Borkovec, T. D., Weerts, T. C., & Bernstein, D. A. (1977). Assessment of anxiety. In Ciminero, A. R. Calhoun, K. S. & Adams, H. E. (Eds.), <AQ: Page numbers needed> Handbook of Behavioral Assessment. New York: Wiley.
- Bouton, M. E., Mineka, S., & Barlow, D. H. (2001). A modern learning theory perspective on the etiology of panic disorder. *Psychological Review*, *108*, 4–32.
- Bowlby, J. (1969). Disruption of affectional bonds and its effects on behavior. *Canada's Mental Health Supplement, 59,* 12.
- Bowlby, J. (1980). By ethology out of psycho-analysis: An experiment in interbreeding. *Animal Behaviour, 28,* 649–656.
- Boyd, J. H. (1986). Use of mental health services for the treatment of panic disorder. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 143, 1569–1574.
- Brambilla, F., Perna, G., Garberi, A., Nobile, P., & Bellodi, L. (1995). Alpha2-adrenergic receptor sensitivity in panic disorder. I. GH response to GHRH and clonodine stimulation in panic disorder. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, 20, 1–9.
- Brandt, C. A., Meller, J., Keweloh, L., Hoschel, K., Staedt, J., Munz, D., et al. (1998). Increased benzodiazepine receptor density in the prefrontal cortex in patients with panic disorder. *Journal of Neural Transmission, 105,* 1325–1333.

- Bremner, J. D., Innis, R. B., White, T., Masahiro, F., Silbersweig, D., Goddard, A. W., et al. (2000). SPECT [I–123] iomazenil measurement of the benzodiazepine receptor in panic disorder. *Biological Psychiatry*, 47, 96–106.
- Broderick, P. C. (2005). Mindfulness and coping with dysphoric mood: Contrasts with rumination and distraction. *Cognitive Therapy and Research, 29*, 501–510.
- Bromet, E. J., Gluzman, S. F., Paniotto, V. I., Webb, C. P.M., Tintle, N. L., Zakhozha, V., et al. (2005). Epidemiology of psychiatric and alcohol disorders in Ukraine: Findings from the Ukraine World Mental Health Survey. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology*, 40, 681–690.
- Brown, G. W., Harris, T. O., & Eales, M. J. (1993). Aetiology of anxiety and depressive disorders in an inner-city population: II. Comorbidity and adversity. *Psychological Medicine*, 23, 155–165.
- Brown, K. W., & Ryan, R. M. (2003). The benefits of being present: Mindfulness and its role in psychological well-being. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *84*, 822–848.
- Brown, T. A., Antony, M. M., & Barlow, D. H. (1995). Diagnostic comorbidity in panic disorder: Effect on treatment outcome and course of comorbid diagnoses following treatment. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 63, 408–418.
- Brown, T. A., & Barlow, D. H. (1995). Long-term outcome in cognitive behavioral treatment of panic disorder: Clinical predictors and alternative strategies for assessment. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *63*, 754–765.
- Brown, T. A., Campbell, L. A., Lehman, C. L., Grishman, J. R., & Mancill, R. B. (2001). Current and lifetime comorbidity of the *DSM-IV* anxiety and mood disorders in a large clinical sample. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *110*, 585–599.
- Brown, T. A., Chorpita, B. F., & Barlow, D. H. (1998). Structural relationships among dimensions of the *DSM-IV* anxiety and mood disorders and dimensions of negative affect, positive affect, and autonomic arousal. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 107, 179–192.
- Brown, T. A., Di Nardo, P. A., Lehman, C. L., & Campbell, L. A. (2001). Reliability of *DSM-IV* anxiety and mood disorders: Implications for the classification of emotional disorders. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *110*, 49–58.
- Bruce, S. E., Yonkers, K. A., Otto, M. W., Eisen, J. L., Weisberg, R. B., Pagano, M., et al. (2005). Influence of psychiatric comorbidity on recovery and recurrence in generalized anxiety disorder, social phobia, and panic disorder: A 12-year prospective study. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 162, 1179–1187.
- Bystritsky, A., Craske, M., Maidenberg, E., Vapnik, T., & Shapiro, D. (1995). Ambulatory monitoring of panic patients during regular activity: A preliminary report. *Biological Psychiatry*, *38*, 684–689.

- Carlbring, P., Ekselius, L, & Andersson, G. (2003). Treatment of panic disorder via the Internet: A randomized trial of CBT vs. applied relaxation. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, *34*, 129–140.
- Carter, M. M., Hollon, S. D., Carson, R., & Shelton, R. C. (1995). Effects of a safe person on induced distress following a biological challenge in panic disorder with agoraphobia. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 104, 156–163.
- Cerny, J. A., Barlow, D. H., Craske, M. G., & Himadi, W. G. (1987). Couples treatment of agoraphobia: A two-year follow-up. *Behavior Therapy*, 18, 401–415.
- Chambless, D. L., Caputo, G. C., Bright, P., & Gallagher, R. (1984). Assessment of fear of fear in agoraphobics: The Body Sensations Questionnaire and the Agoraphobic Cognitions Questionnaire. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 52, 1090–1097.
- Chambless, D. L., Caputo, G. C., Jasin, S. E., Gracely, E. J., & Williams, C. (1985). The Mobility Inventory for Agoraphobia. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 23, 35–44.
- Chambless, D. L., & Gracely, E. J. (1989). Fear of fear and the anxiety disorders. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, *13*, 19–20.
- Chambless, D. L., & Renneberg, B. (September, 1988). *Personality disorders of agoraphobics*. Paper presented at the World Congress of Behavior Therapy, Edinburgh, Scotland.
- Clark, D. B., Taylor, C. B., Hayward, C., King, R., Margraf, J., Ehlers, A., et al. (1990). Motor activity and tonic heart rate in panic disorder. *Psychiatry Research*, *32*, 45–53.
- Clark, D. M. (1986). A cognitive approach to panic. *Behaviour Research and Therapy, 24,* 461–470.
- Clark, D. M. (1988). A cognitive model of panic attacks. In S. Rachman & J. D. Maser (Eds.), *Panic: Psychological perspectives* (pp. 71–89). Hillside, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Clark, D. M. (1996). Panic disorder: From theory to therapy. In P. M. Salkovskis (Ed.), *Frontiers* of cognitive therapy (pp. 318–344). New York: Guilford.
- Clark, D. M., Salkovskis, P. M., Gelder, M., Koehler, C., Martin, M., Anastasiades, et al. (1988). Tests of a cognitive theory of panic. In I. Hand & H.-U. Wittchen (Eds.), *Panic* and phobias II: Treatments and variables affecting course and outcome (pp. 71–90). Berlin: Springer-Verlag.
- Clark, D. M., Salkovskis, P. M., Hackmann, A., Middleton, H., Anastasiades, P., & Gelder, M. (1994). A comparison of cognitive therapy, applied relaxation, and imipramine in the treatment of panic disorder: A randomized controlled trial. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 164, 759–769.

- Clark, D. M., Salkovskis, P. M., Hackmann, A., Wells, A., Ludgate, J., & Gelder, M. (1999). Brief cognitive therapy for panic disorder: A randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 67, 583–589.
- Cloitre, M., Shear, K. M., Cancienne, J., & Zeitlin, S. B. (1994). Implicit and explicit memory for catastrophic associations to bodily sensation words in panic disorder. *Cognitive Therapy and Research, 18,* 225–240.
- Cohen, H., Benjamin, J., Geva, A. B., Matar, M. A., Kaplan, Z., & Kotler, M. (2000). Autonomic dysregulation in panic disorder and in post-traumatic stress disorders: Application of power spectrum analysis of heart rate variability at rest and in response to recollection of trauma or panic attacks. *Psychiatry Research*, *96*, 1–13.
- Cohen, H., Matar, A. M., Kaplan, Z., Miodownik, H., Cassuto, Y., & Kotler, M., 1998. Analysis of heart rate variability in post-traumatic stress disorder patients: At rest and in response to a trauma-related reminder. *Biological Psychiatry*, *44*, 1054–1059.
- Cohen, L. H., Burt, C. E., & Bjorck, J. P. (1987). Life stress and adjustment: Effects of life events experienced by young adolescents and their parents. *Developmental Psychology*, 23, 583–592.
- Cohen, L., McGowan, J., Fooskas, S., & Rose, S. (1984). Positive life events and social support and the relationship between life stress and psychological disorder. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 12, 567–587.
- Cox, B. J., Endler, N. S., & Swinson, R. P. (1995). An examination of levels of agoraphobic severity in panic disorder. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *33*, 57–62.
- Craske, M. G. (1999). *Anxiety disorders: Psychological approaches to theory and treatment*. Boulder, CO: Westview.
- Craske, M. G. (2003). Origins of phobias and anxiety disorders: Why more women than men? Oxford, UK: Elsevier.
- Craske, M. G., & Barlow, D. H. (1988). A review of the relationship between panic and avoidance. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *8*, 667–685.
- Craske, M. G., & Barlow, D. H. (1989). Nocturnal panic. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 177, 160–167.
- Craske, M. G., Brown, T. A., & Barlow, D. H. (1991). Behavioral treatment of panic disorder: A two-year follow-up. *Behavior Therapy*, *22*, 289–304.
- Craske, M. G., Farchione, T. J., Allen, L. B., Barrios, V., Stoyanova, & Rose, R. (in press). Cognitive behavioral therapy for panic disorder and comorbidity: Single or multiple treatment focus. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*.

- Craske, M. G., & Freed, S. (1995). Expectations about arousal and nocturnal panic. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *104*, 567–575.
- Craske, M. G., Lang, A. J., Aikins, D., & Mystkowski, J. L. (2005). Cognitive behavioral therapy for nocturnal panic. *Behavior Therapy*, *36*, 43–54.
- Craske, M. G., Lang, A. J., Rowe, M., DeCola, J. P., Simmons, J., Mann, C., et al. (2002). Presleep attributions about arousal during sleep: Nocturnal panic. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 111, 53–62.
- Craske, M. G., Maidenberg, E., & Bystritsky, A. (1995). Brief cognitive-behavioral versus nondirective therapy for panic disorder. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, 26, 113–120.
- Craske, M. G., Miller, P. P., Rotunda, R., & Barlow, D. H. (1990). A descriptive report of features of initial unexpected panic attacks in minimal and extensive avoiders. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 28, 395–400.
- Craske, M. G., Poulton, R., Tsao, J. C. I., & Plotkin, D. (2001). Paths to panic disorder/agoraphobia: An exploratory analysis from age 3 to 21 in an unselected birth cohort. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 40, 556– 563.
- Craske, M. G., Rapee, R. M., & Barlow, D. H. (1988). The significance of panic-expectancy for individual patterns of avoidance. *Behavior Therapy*, *19*, 577–592.
- Craske, M. G., & Rowe, M. K. (1997). Nocturnal panic. *Clinical Psychology: Science & Practice*, 4, 153–174.
- Craske, M. G., Rowe, M., Lewin, M., & Noriego-Dimitri, R. (1997). Interoceptive exposure versus breathing retraining within cognitive-behavioural therapy for panic disorder with agoraphobia. *British Journal of Clinical Psychology*, *36*, 85–99.
- Craske MG, Roy-Byrne P, Stein MB, Donald-Sherbourne C, Bystritsky A, Katon W, Sullivan G. (2002). Treating panic disorder in primary care: a collaborative care intervention. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, 24(3), 148-55.
- Craske, M. G., & Tsao, J. C. I. (1999). Self-monitoring with panic and anxiety disorders. *Psychological Assessment, 11,* 466–479.
- Craske, M. G., & Tsao, J. C. I. (2005). Assessment and treatment of nocturnal panic attacks. *Sleep Medicine Reviews*, *9*, 173–184.

- Davidson, R. J., Kabat-Zinn, J., Schumacher, J., Rosenkranz, M., Muller, D., Santorelli, S. F., et al. (2003). Alterations in brain and immune function produced by mindfulness meditation. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 65, 564–570.
- Deacon, B., & Abramowitz, J. (2006). A pilot study of two-day cognitive-behavioral therapy for panic disorder. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *44*, 807–817.
- de Beurs, E., van Balkom, A. J., Lange, A., Koele, P., & van Dyke, R. (1995). Treatment of panic disorder with agoraphobia: Comparison of fluvoxamine, placebo, and psychological panic management combined with exposure and of exposure in vivo alone. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *152*, 683–691.
- Deckert, J., Nothen, M. M., Franke, P., Delmo, C., Fritze, J., Knapp, M., et al. (1998). Systematic mutation screening and association study of the A1 and A2a adenosine receptor genes in panic disorder suggest a contribution of the A2a gene to the development of disease. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 3, 81–85.
- de Jong, G. M., & Bouman, T. K. (1995). Panic disorder: A baseline period. Predictability of agoraphobic avoidance behavior. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders, 9*, 185–199.
- Devilly, G. J. (2001a). Effect size and methodological rigor in EMDR: A reply to Lipke's (2001) comment. *Behavior Therapist, 24,* 195–196.
- Devilly, G. J. (2001b). The influence of distraction during exposure and researcher allegiance during outcome trials. *Behavior Therapist, 24,* 18–21.
- DiNardo, P. A., Brown, T. A., & Barlow, D. H. (1994). Anxiety Disorders Interview Schedule for *DSM-IV*: Clinician's Manual. New York: Graywind.
- Dworkin B. R., & Dworkin, S. (1999). Heterotopic and homotopic classical conditioning of the baroreflex. *Integrative Physiological & Behavioral Science*, *34*, 158–176.
- Ehlers, A. (1995). A 1-year prospective study of panic attacks: Clinical course and factors associated with maintenance. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *104*, 164–172.
- Ehlers, A., Margraf, J., Davies, S., & Roth, W. T. (1988). Selective processing of threat cues in subjects with panic attacks. *Cognition & Emotion, 2,* 201–219.
- Ehlers, A., Margraf, J., Roth, W. T., Taylor, C. B., & Birbaumer, N. (1988). Anxiety induced by false heart rate feedback in patients with panic disorder. *Behaviour Research and Therapy, 26,* 1–11.
- Eifert, G. H., & Forsyth, J. P. (2005). Acceptance and commitment therapy for anxiety disorders: A practitioner's treatment guide to using mindfulness, acceptance, and values-based behavior change strategies. Oakland, CA: New Harbinger.

- Eifert, G. H., & Heffner, M. (2003). The effects of acceptance versus control contexts on avoidance of panic-related symptoms. *Journal of Behavioral Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, *34*, 293–312.
- Ettigi, P., Meyerhoff, A. S., Chirban, J. T., Jacobs, R. J., & Wilson, R. R. (1997). The quality of life and employments in panic disorder. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 185, 368–372.
- Eysenck, H. J. (Ed.). (1960). Behavior therapy and the neuroses. Oxford, England: Pergamon.
- Eysenck, H. J. (1967). The biological basis of personality. Springfield, IL: C. C. Thomas.
- Eysenck, H. J., & Rachman, S. (1965). *The causes and cures of neurosis*. London: Routledge & Kegan Paul.
- Faravelli, C., & Pallanti, S. (1989). Recent life events and panic disorder. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, *146*, 622–626.
- Fava, G. A., Rafanelli, C., Grandi, S., Conti, S., Ruini, C., Mangelli, L., et al. (2001). Long-term outcome of panic disorder with agoraphobia treated by exposure. *Psychological Medicine*, 31, 891–898.
- Fava, G. A., Zielezny, M., Savron, G., & Grandi, S. (1995). Long-term effects of behavioural treatment for panic disorder with agoraphobia. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, *166*, 87–92.
- Fleet, Richard P., Dupuis, Gilles, Marchand, André, Burelle, Denis, Beitman, Bernard D. (1997). Detecting *panic disorder* in emergency department chest pain patients: A validated model to improve recognition. *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, 19(2), 124-131
- First, M. B., Spitzer, R. L., Gibbon, M., & Williams, J. B.W. (1994). Structured clinical interview for axis I DSM-IV disorders. New York: Biometric Research Department, New York State Psychiatric Institute.
- Forsyth, J. P., Palav, A., & Duff, K. (1999). The absence of relation between anxiety sensitivity and fear conditioning using 20% versus 13% CO₂-enriched air as unconditioned stimuli. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 37,143–153.
- Friedman, B. H., & Thayer, J. F. (1998). Autonomic balance revisited: Panic anxiety and heart rate variability. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 44, 133–151.
- Friedman, B. H., Thayer, J. F., & Borkovec, T. D. (1993). Heart rate variability in generalized anxiety disorder [abstract]. *Psychophysiology*, *30* (suppl), S28.
- Frisch, M. B., Cornell, J., Villanueva, M., & Retzlaff, P. J. (1992). Clinical validation of the Quality of Life Inventory: A measure of life satisfaction for use in treatment planning and outcome assessment, *Psychological Assessment*, *4*, 92–101.

- Furukawa, T. A., Watanabe, N., & Churchill, R. (2006). Psychotherapy plus antidepressant for panic disorder with or without agoraphobia: Systematic review. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 188, 305–312.
- Ghosh, A., & Marks, I. M. (1987). Self-treatment of agoraphobia by exposure. *Behavior Therapy*, *18*, 3–16.
- Goddard, A. W., Mason, G. F., Almai, A., Rothman, D. L., Behar, K. L., Petroff, O. A.C., et al. (2001). Reductions in occipital cortex GABA levels in panic disorder detected with 1hmagnetic resonance spectroscopy. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 58, 556–561.
- Goddard, A. W., Mason, G. F. Appel, M., Rothman, D. L., Gueorguieva, R., Behar, K. L., et al. (2004). Impaired GABA neuronal response to acute benzodiazepine administration in panic disorder. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 161, 2186–2193.
- Goisman, R. M., Warshaw, M. G., Peterson, L. G., Rogers, M. P., Cuneo, P., Hunt, M. F., et al. (1994). Panic, agoraphobia, and panic disorder with agoraphobia: Data from a multicenter anxiety disorders study. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 182, 72–79.
- Goldstein, A. J., & Chambless, D. L. (1978). A reanalysis of agoraphobia. *Behavior Therapy*, *9*, 47–59.
- Goodwin, R. D., & Eaton, W. W. (2003). Asthma and the risk of panic attacks among adults in the community. *Psychological Medicine*, *33*, 879–885.
- Goodwin, R. D., Fergusson, D. M., & Horwood, L. J. (2005). Childhood abuse and familial violence and the risk of panic attacks and panic disorder in young adulthood. *Psychological Medicine*, *35*, 881–890.
- Gorman, J. M., Kent, J. M., Sullivan, G. M., & Coplan, J. D. (2000). Neuroanatomical hypothesis of panic disorder, revised. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 157, 493–505.
- Gould, R. A., & Clum, G. A. (1995). Self-help plus minimal therapist contact in the treatment of panic disorder: A replication and extension. *Behavior Therapy*, *26*, 533–546.
- Gould, R. A., Clum, G. A., & Shapiro, D. (1993). The use of bibliotherapy in the treatment of panic: A preliminary investigation. *Behavior Therapy*, *24*, 241–252.
- Gould, R. A., Otto, M. W., & Pollack, M. H. (1995). A meta-analysis of treatment outcome for panic disorder. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 15, 819–844.
- Gray, J. A. (1982a). The neuropsychology of anxiety: An enquiry into the functions of the septohippocampal system. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Gray, J. A. (1982b). Precis of "The neuropsychology of anxiety: An enquiry into the functions of the septo-hippocampal system." *Behavioural and Brain Sciences*, *5*, 469–534.

- Greenberg, P. E., Sisitsky, T., Kessler, R. C., Finkelstein, S. N., Berndt, E. R., Davidson, J. R. T., et al. (1999). The economic burden of anxiety disorders in the 1990s. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, *60*, 427–435.
- Grillon, C. (2002). Startle reactivity and anxiety disorders: Aversive conditioning, context, and neurobiology. *Biological Psychiatry*, *52*, 958–975.
- Grillon, C., Ameli, R., Goddard, A., Woods, S. W., & Davis, M. (1994). Baseline and fearpotentiated startle in panic disorder patients. *Biological Psychiatry*, *35*, 431–439.
- Gross, J. J., & Levenson, R. W. (1993). Emotional suppression: Physiology, self-report & expressive behavior. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 64, 970–986.
- Gross, J. J., & Levenson, R. W. (1997). Hiding feelings: The acute effects of inhibiting negative and positive emotion. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *106*, 95–103.
- Hamilton, S. P., Fyer, A. J., Durner, M., Heiman, G. A., Baisre de Leon, A., Hodge, S. E., et al. (2003). Further genetic evidence for a panic disorder syndrome mapping to chromosome 13q. *Proceedings of National Academy of Science*, 100, 2550–2555.
- Hamilton, S. P., Slager, S. L., De Leon, A. B., Heiman, G. A., Klein, D. F., Hodge, S. E., et al. (2004). Evidence for genetic linkage between a polymorphism in the adenosine 2A receptor and panic disorder. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 29, 558–565.
- Hamilton, S. P., Slager, S. L., Helleby, L., Heiman, G. A., Klein, D. F., Hodge, S. E., et al. (2001). No association or linkage between polymorphisms in the genes encoding cholecystokinin and the cholecystokinin B receptor and panic disorder. *Molecular Psychiatry*, *6*, 59–65.
- Hayes, S. C., Luoma, J. B., Bond, F. W., Masuda, A., & Lillis, J. (2006). Acceptance and commitment therapy: Model, processes and outcomes. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 44, 1–25.
- Hayes, S. C., Strosahl, K. D., & Wilson, K. G. (1999). Acceptance and commitment therapy: An experiential approach to behavior change. New York: Guilford.
- Hayes, S. C., Wilson, K. G., Giffore, E. V., Follette, V. M., & Strosahl, K. (1996). Experiential avoidance and behavioral disorders: A functional dimensional approach to diagnosis and treatment. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 64, 1152–1168.
- Hayward, C., Killen, J. D., Hammer, L. D., Litt, I. F., Wilson, D. M., Simmonds, B., et al. (1992). Pubertal stage and panic attack history in sixth- and seventh-grade girls. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 149, 1239–1243.
- Hayward, C., Killen, J. D., Kraemer, H. C., & Taylor, C. B. (2000). Predictors of panic attacks in adolescents. *Journal of American Academy of Child Adolescent Psychiatry*, 39, 207–214.

- Heinrichs, N., Hofmann, S. G., & Barlow, D. H. (2004). Non-specific encoding of threat in social phobia and panic disorder. *Cognitive Behaviour Therapy*, *33*, 126–136.
- Hermans, D., Craske, M. G., Mineka, S., & Lovibond, P. F. (2006). Extinction in humans. *Biological Psychiatry*, 60, 361–368.
- Hibbs, E. D., Hamburger, S.D., Kruesi, M. J. P., & Lenane, M. (1993). Factors affecting expressed emotion in parents of ill and normal children. *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*, 63, 103–112.
- Hoehn-Saric, R., McLeod, D. R., & Hipsley, P. (1995). Is hyperarousal essential to obsessivecompulsive disorder? Diminished physiologic flexibility, but not hyperarousal, characterizes patients with obsessive-compulsive disorder. *Archives of General Psychiatry, 52,* 688–693.
- Hope, D. A., Rapee, R. M., Heimberg, R. G., & Dombeck, M. J. (1990). Representations of the self in social phobia: Vulnerability to social threat. *Cognitive Therapy & Research*, 14, 177–189.
- Horwath, E., Lish, J. D., Johnson, J., Hornig, C. D., & Weissman, M. M. (1993). Agoraphobia without panic: Clinical reappraisal of an epidemiologic finding. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 150, 1496–1501.
- Hudson, J., & Rapee, R. (2001). Parent-child interactions and anxiety disorders: An observational study. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *39*, 1411–1427.
- Irie, M., Maeda, M., & Nagata, S. (2001). Can conditioned histamine release occur under urethane anesthesia in guinea pigs? *Physiology & Behavior*, 72, 567–573.
- Ito, T., Inoue, Y., Sugihara, T., Yamada, H. Katayama, S. & Kawahara, R. (1999). Autonomic function in the early stage of panic disorder: Power spectral analysis of heart rate variability. *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 53, 667–672.
- Jacob, R. G., Furman, J. M., Clark, D. B., & Durrant, J. D. (1992). Vestibular symptoms, panic, and phobia: Overlap and possible relationships. *Annals of Clinical Psychiatry*, 4, 163– 174.
- Kabat-Zinn, J. (1990). Full catastrophe living: Using the wisdom of your body and mind to face stress, pain, and illness. New York: Delta.
- Kabat-Zinn, J., Massion, A. O., Kristeller, J., Peterson, L. G., Fletcher, K. E., Pbert, L., et al. (1992). Effectiveness of a meditation-based stress reduction program in the treatment of anxiety disorders. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 149, 936–943.
- Kamphuis, J. H., & Telch, M. J. (2000). Effects of distraction and guided threat reappraisal on fear reduction during exposure-based treatments for specific fears. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 38, 1163–1181.

- Katerndahl, D. A., & Realini, J. P. (1997). Quality of life and panic-related work disability in subjects with infrequent panic and panic disorder. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 58, 153–158.
- Katschnig, H., & Amering, M. (1998). The long-term course of panic disorder and its predictors. *Journal of Clinical Psychopharmacology, 18(Suppl 2),* 6S–11S.
- Kawakami, N., Takeshima, T., Ono, Y., Uda, H., Hata, Y., Nakane, Y., et al. (2002). Twelvemonth prevalence, severity, and treatment of common mental disorders in communities in Japan: Preliminary finding from the World Mental Health Japan Survey 2002–2003. *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 59, 441–452.
- Kendler, K. S., Bulik, C. M., Silberg, J., Hettema, J. M., Myers, J. & Prescott, C. A. (2000). Childhood sexual abuse and adult psychiatric and substance use disorders in women: An epidemiological and co-twin analysis. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 57, 953–959.
- Kendler, K. S., Heath, A. C., Martin, N. G., & Eaves, L. J. (1987). Symptoms of anxiety and symptoms of depression: Same genes, different environments? *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 44, 451–457.
- Kendler, K. S., Neale, M. C., Kessler, R. C., Heath, A. C., & Eaves, L. J. (1993). Major depression and phobias: The genetic and environmental sources of comorbidity. *Psychological Medicine*, 23, 361–371.
- Kendler, K. S., Walters, E. E., Neale, M. C., Kessler, R. C., Heath, A. C., & Eaves, L. J. (1995). The structure of the genetic and environmental risk factors for six major psychiatric disorders in women. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 52, 374–383.
- Kent, J. M., & Rauch, S. L. (2003). Neurocircuitry of anxiety disorders. *Current Psychiatry Report, 5*, 266–273.
- Kessler, R. C., Chiu, W. T., Demler, O., Merikangas, K. R., & Walters, E. E. (2005a). Lifetime prevalence and age-of-onset distributions of *DSM-IV* disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 62, 593–602.
- Kessler, R. C., Chiu, W. T., Demler, O., Merikangas, K. R., & Walters, E. E. (2005b). Prevalence, severity, and comorbidity of 12-month *DSM-IV* disorders in the National Comorbidity Survey Replication. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 62, 617–27.
- Kessler, R. C., Chiu, W.T, Jin, R., Ruscio, A.M., Shear, K., Walters, E.E. (2006). The epidemiology of panic attacks, panic disorder, and agoraphobia in the national comorbidity survey replication. *Archives of General Psychiatry*. *63(4)*, 415-424.
- Kessler, R. C., Davis, C. G., & Kendler, K. S. (1997). Childhood adversity and adult psychiatric disorder in the U.S. National Comorbidity Survey. *Psychological Medicine* 27, 1101– 1119.

- Kessler, R. C., McGonagle, K., Zhao, S., Nelson, C., Hughes, M., Eshelman, S., et al. (1994). Lifetime and 12-month prevalence of *DSM-III-R* psychiatric disorders in the United States: Results from the National Comorbidity Survey. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 51, 8–19.
- Kikuchi, M., Komuro, R., Hiroshi, O., Kidani, T., Hanaoka, A., & Koshino, Y. (2005). Panic disorder with and without agoraphobia: Comorbidity within a half-year of the onset of panic disorder. *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 58, 639–643.
- Klein, D. F. (1981). Anxiety reconceptualized. In D. F. Klein & J. G. Rabkin (Eds.), *Anxiety: New research and changing concepts*. New York: Raven.<AQ: Page numbers needed>
- Kroeze, S., & van den Hout, M. A. (2000). Selective attention for cardiac information in panic patients. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *38*, 63–72.
- Krystal, J. H., Woods, S. W., Hill, C. L., & Charney, D. S. (1991). Characteristics of panic attack subtypes: Assessment of spontaneous panic, situational panic, sleep panic, and limited symptom attacks. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, 32, 474–480.
- Lake, R. I. E., Eaves, L. J., Maes, H. H. M., Heath, A. C., & Martin, N. G. (2000). Further evidence against the environmental transmission of individual differences in neuroticism from a collaborative study of 45,850 twins and relatives of two continents. *Behavior Genetics*, 30, 223–233.
- Lambert, E. A., Thompson, J., Schlaich, M., Laude, D., Elghozi, J. L., Esler, M. D., et al. (2002). *Journal of Hypertension, 20,* 2445–2451.
- Lautenbacher, S., Spernal, J., & Krieg, J-C. (2002). Divided and selective attention in panic disorder: A comparative study of patients with panic disorder, major depression and healthy controls. *European Archives of Psychiatry and Clinical Neuroscience*, 252, 210– 213.
- LeDoux, J. E. (1996). *The emotional brain: The mysterious underpinnings of emotional life*. New York: Simon & Schuster.
- Lennartz, R. C., & Weinberger, N. M. (1992). Analysis of response systems in Pavlovian conditioning reveals rapidly versus slowly acquired conditioned responses: Support for two factors, implications for behavior and neurobiology. *Psychobiology*, 20, 93–119.
- Lipke, H. (2001). Response to Devilly's (2001) claims on distraction and exposure._*the Behavior Therapist,* 24(9), 195.
- Lovibond, P. F., & Shanks, D. R. (2002). The role of awareness in Pavlovian conditioning: Empirical evidence and theoretical implications. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Animal Behavior Processes*, 28, 3–26.
- Lundh, L. G., Czyzykow, S., & Ost, L. G. (1997). Explicit and implicit memory bias in panic disorder with agoraphobia. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *35*, 1003–1014.

- Mackinnon, A. J., Henderson, A. S., & Andrews, G. (1990). Genetic and environmental determinants of the lability of trait neuroticism and the symptoms of anxiety and depression. *Psychological Medicine*, *20*, 581–591.
- Maddock, R. J., Buonocore, M. H., Kile, S. J., & Garrett, A. S. (2003). Brain regions showing increased activation by threat-related words in panic disorder. *NeuroReport*, *14*, 325–328.
- Maidenberg, E., Chen, E., Craske, M., Bohn, P., & Bystristsky, A. (1996). Specificity of attentional bias in panic disorder and social phobia. *Journal of Anxiety disorders, 10,* 529–541.
- Malizia, A. L., Cunningham, V. J., Bell, C. J., Liddle, P. F., Jones, T. & Nutt, D. J. (1998).
 Decreased brain GABA(A)-benzodiazepine receptor binding in panic disorder:
 Preliminary results from a quantitative PET study. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 55, 715–720.
- Maller, R. G., & Reiss, S. (1992). Anxiety sensitivity in 1984 and panic attacks in 1987. *Journal* of Anxiety Disorders, 6, 241–247.
- Mannuzza, S., Fyer, A. J., Martin, L. Y., Gallops, M. S., Endicott, J., Gorman, J. M., et al. (1989). Reliability of anxiety assessment: I Diagnostic agreement. Archives of General Psychiatry, 46, 1093–1101.
- Margraf, J., Taylor, C. B., Ehlers, A., Roth, W. T., & Agras, W. S. (1987). Panic attacks in the natural environment. Special issue: Mental disorders in their natural settings: The application of time allocation and experience-sampling techniques in psychiatry. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*, 175, 558–565.
- Marks, I. M., Swinson, R. P., Basoglu, M., Kuch, K., Noshirvani, H., O'Sullivan, G., et al. (1993). "Alprazolam and exposure alone and combined in panic disorder with agoraphobia: A controlled study in London and Toronto": Reply. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, 162, 790–794.
- Martin, N. G., Jardine, R., Andrews, G., & Heath, A. C. (1988). Anxiety disorders and neuroticism: Are there genetic factors specific to panic? *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 77, 698–706.
- Massana, G., Gasto, C., Junque, C., Mercader, J. M., Gomez, B., Massana, J., et al. (2002). Reduced levels of creatine in the right medial temporal lobe region of panic disorder patients detected with (1)H magnetic resonance spectoscopy. *Neuroimage*, *16(pt. 1)*, 836–842.
- Massana, G., Serra-Grabulosa, J. M., Salgado-Pineda, P., Gasto, C., Junque, C., Massana, J., et al. (2003). Amygdalar atrophy in panic disorder patients detected by volumetric magnetic resonance imaging. *Neuroimage*, *19*, 80–90.
- McCraty, R., Atkinson, M., Tomasino, D. & Stuppy, W. P. (2001). Analysis of twenty-four hour heart rate variability in patients with panic disorder. *Biological Psychiatry*, *56*, 131–150.

- McHorney, C. A., Ware, J. E., & Raczek, A. E. (1993). The MOS 36-Item Short-Form Health Survey (SF–36): II. Psychometric and clinical tests of validity in measuring physical and mental health constructs. *Medical Care.* 31, 247–263.
- McNally, R. J., & Lorenz, M. (1987). Anxiety sensitivity in agoraphobics. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, 18, 3–11.
- McNally, R. J., Riemann, B. C., & Kim, E. (1990). Selective processing of threat cues in panic disorder. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 28, 407–412.
- McNally, R. J., Riemann, B. C., Louro, C. E., Lukach, B. M., & Kim, E. (1992). Cognitive processing of emotional information in panic disorder. *Behaviour Research & Therapy*, *30*, 143–149.
- Mellman, T. A., & Uhde, T. W. (1989). Sleep panic attacks: New clinical findings and theoretical implications. <u>American Journal of Psychiatry, 146, 1024-1027</u>.
- Messenger, C., & Shean, G. (1998). The effects of anxiety sensitivity and history of panic on reactions to stressors in a non-clinical sample. *Journal of Behavior Therapy*, 29, 279–288.
- Middleton, H. C., & Ashby, M. (1995). Clinical recovery from panic disorder is associated with evidence of changes in cardiovascular regulation. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, *91*, 108–113.
- Miller, J. J., Fletcher, K., & Kabat-Zinn, J. (1995). Three-year follow-up and clinical implications of a mindfulness meditation-based stress reduction intervention in the treatment of anxiety disorders. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, *17*, 192–200.
- Mineka, S., & Cook, M. (1986). Immunization against the observational conditioning of snake fear in rhesus monkeys. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *95*, 307–318.
- Mineka, S., Gunnar, M., & Champoux, M. (1986). Control and early socioemotional development: Infant rhesus monkeys reared in controllable versus uncontrollable environments. *Child Development*, 57, 1241–1256.
- Mineka, S., Watson, D., & Clark, L. A. (1998). Comorbidity of anxiety and unipolar mood disorders. Annual Review of Psychology, 49, 377–412.
- Mitte, K. (2005). A meta-analysis of the efficacy of psycho- and pharmacotherapy in panic disorder with and without agoraphobia. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 88,* 27–45.
- Moore, P. S., Whaley, S. E., & Sigman, M. (2004). Interactions between mothers and children: Impacts of maternal and child anxiety. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *113*, 471–476.
- Moisan, D. & Engels, M. L. (1995). Childhood trauma and personality disorder in 43 women with panic disorder. *Psychological Reports*, *76*, 1133–1134.

- Morisette, S. B., Spiegel, D. A., & Heinrichs, N. (2005). Sensation-Focused intensive treatment for panic disorder with moderate to severe agoraphobia. *Cognitive and Behavioral Practice, 12,* 17–29.
- Myers, J. K., Weissman, M. M., Tischler, G. L., Holzer, C. E., Leaf, P. J., Orvaschel, H., et al. (1984). Six-month prevalence of psychiatric disorders in three communities. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, *41*, 959–967.
- Neidhardt, E., & Florin, I. (1999). Memory bias for panic-related material in patients with panic disorder. *Psychopathology*, *32*, 260–266.
- Néron, S., Lacroix, D., & Chaput, Y. (1995). Group vs. individual cognitive behaviour therapy in panic disorder: An open clinical trial with a six month follow-up. *Canadian Journal of Behavioural Science*, 27, 379–392.
- Newman, M. G., Holmes, M., Zuellig, A. R., Kachin, K. E., & Behar, E. (2006). The reliability and validity of the panic disorder self-report: A new diagnostic screening mMeasure of panic disorder. *Psychological Assessment*, 18, 49–61.
- Newman, M. G., Kenardy, J., Herman, S., & Taylor, C. B. (1997). Comparison of palmtopcomputer-assisted brief cognitive-behavioral treatment to cognitive-behavioral treatment for panic disorder. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *65*, 178–183.
- Nixon, P. G. (1993). The grey area of effort syndrome and hyperventilation: From Thomas Lewis to today. *Journal of the Royal College of Physicians of London, 27*, 377–383.
- Norton, G. R., Cox, B. J., & Malan, J. (1992). Nonclinical panickers: A critical review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 12, 121–139.
- Noyes, R., Clancy, J., Garvey, M., & Anderson, D. J. (1987). Is agoraphobia a variant of panic disorder or separate illness? *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, *1*, 3–13.
- Noyes, R., Crowe, R. R., Harris, E. L., Hamra, B. J., McChesney, C. M., & Chaudhry, D. R. (1986). Relationship between panic disorder and agoraphobia: A family study. *Archives* of General Psychiatry, 43, 227–232.
- Öhman, A., & Mineka, S. (2001). Fears, phobias, and preparedness: Toward an evolved module of fear and fear learning. *Psychological Review*, *108*, 483–522.
- Otto, M. W., Pollack, M. H., Sachs, G. S., Reiter, S. R., Meltzer-Brody, S., & Rosenbaum, J. F. (1993). Discontinuation of benzodiazepine treatment: Efficacy of cognitive-behavioral therapy for patients with panic disorder. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 150, 1485– 1490.
- Papousek, H., & Papousek, M. (1997). Fragile aspects of early social integration. In L. Murray & P. J. Cooper (Eds.), *Postpartum depression and child development* (pp. 35–53). New York: Guilford.

- Papousek, H., & Papousek, M. (2002). Intuitive parenting. In M. H. Bornstein (Ed.), Handbook of parenting (2nd ed., vol. 2). *Biology and ecology of parenting* (pp. 183–203). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Papp, L. A., Klein, D. F., & Gorman, J. M. (1993). Carbon dioxide hypersensitivity, hyperventilation, and panic disorder. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 150, 1149–1157.
- Pauli, P., Amrhein, C., Muhlberger, A., Dengler, W. & Wiedemann, G. (2005). Electrocortical evidence for an early abnormal processing of panic-related words in panic disorder patients. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 57, 33–41.
- Pauli, P., Dengler, W., & Wiedemann, G. (2005). Implicit and explicit memory processes in panic patients as reflected in behavioral and electrophysiological measures. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, 36, 111–127.
- Perna, G., Bertani, A., Arancio, C., Ronchi, P., & Bellodi, L. (1995). Laboratory response of patients with panic and obsessive-compulsive disorders to 35% CO2 challenges. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 152, 85–89.
- Pollard, C. A., Pollard, H. J., & Corn, K. J. (1989). Panic onset and major events in the lives of agoraphobics: A test of contiguity. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *98*, 318–321.
- Porges, S. W. (1992). Autonomic regulation and attention. In B. A. Campbell, H. Hayne, & R. Richardson (Eds.) Attention and information processing in infants and adults. Hillsdale, NJ : Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Powers, M. B., Smits, J. A. J., & Telch, M. J. (2004). Disentangling the effects of safety behavior utilization and safety-behavior availability during exposure based treatments: A placebocontrolled trial. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 72, 448–454.
- Rachman, S., Lopatka, C., & Levitt, K. (1988). Experimental analyses of panic: II. Panic patients. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *26*, 33–40.
- Ramel, W., Goldin, P. R., Carmona, P. E., & McQuaid, J. R. (2004). The effects of mindfulness meditation on cognitive processes and affect in patients with past depression. *Cognitive Therapy and Research*, 28, 433–455.
- Rapee, R. (1986). Differential response to hyperventilation in panic disorder and generalized anxiety disorder. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 95, 24-28.
- Rapee, R. M. (1994). Failure to replicate a memory bias in panic disorder. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders, 8,* 291–300.
- Rapee, R. M., Brown, T. A., Antony, M. M., & Barlow, D. H. (1992). Response to hyperventilation and inhalation of 5.5% carbon dioxide-enriched air across the DSM-III-R anxiety disorders. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 101, 538–552.
- Rapee, R. M., Craske, M. G., & Barlow, D. H. (1990). Subject-described features of panic attacks using self-monitoring. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, *4*,171–181.

- Rapee, R. M., Craske, M. G., & Barlow, D. H. (1995). Assessment instrument for panic disorder that includes fear of sensation-producing activities: The Albany Panic and Phobia Questionnaire. *Anxiety*, 1, 114–122.
- Rapee, R. M., Litwin, E. M., & Barlow, D. H. (1990). Impact of life events on subjects with panic disorder and on comparison subjects. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 147, 640– 644.
- Rapee, R., Mattick, R., & Murrell, E. (1986). Cognitive mediation in the affective component of spontaneous panic attacks. *Journal of Behavior Therapy & Experimental Psychiatry*, 17, 245–253.
- Rapee, R. M., & Medoro, L. (1994). Fear of physical sensations and trait anxiety as mediators of the response to hyperventilation in nonclinical subjects. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 103, 693–699.
- Rapee, R. M., & Murrell, E. (1988). Predictors of agoraphobic avoidance. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders, 2,* 203–217.
- Razran, G. (1961). The observable unconscious and the inferable conscious in current Soviet psychophysiology: Interoceptive conditioning, semantic conditioning, and the orienting reflex. *Psychological Review*, 69, 81–150.
- Reiss, S. (1991). Expectancy model of fear, anxiety and panic. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 11, 141–155.
- Reiss, S., Peterson, R. A., Gursky, D. M., & McNally, R. J. (1986). Anxiety sensitivity, anxiety frequency and the predictions of fearfulness. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 24, 1–8.
- Richards, J. M., & Gross, J. J. (2000) Emotion regulation and memory: The cognitive costs of keeping one's cool. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *79*, 410–424.
- Richards, J., Klein, B., & Carlbring, P. (2003). Internet-based treatment for panic disorder. *Cognitive Behaviour Therapy*, *32*, 125–135.
- Rijken, H., Kraaimaat, F., de Ruiter, C., & Garssen, B. (1992). A follow-up study on short-term treatment of agoraphobia. *Behaviour Research and Therapy, 30,* 63–66.
- Robert McComb, J. J., Tacon, A. M., Randolph, P., & Caldera, Y. (2004). A pilot study to examine the effects of a mindfulness-based stress-reduction and relaxation program on levels of stress hormones, physical functioning, and submaximal exercise responses. *Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine*, 10, 819–827.
- Rochat, P., & Striano, T. (1999). Social-cognitive development in the first year. In P. Rochat (Ed.), *Early social cognition: Understanding others in the first months of life* (pp. 3–34). Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.

- Rodriguez, B. I., & Craske, M. G. (1993). The effects of distraction during exposure to phobic stimuli. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *31*, 549–558.
- Rodriguez, B. I., & Craske, M. G. (1995). Does distraction interfere with fear reduction during exposure? A test among animal-fearful subjects. *Behavior Therapy. Special Issue: Experimental pain as a model for the study of clinical pain, 26,* 337–349.
- Roth, W. T., Margraf, J., Ehlers, A., Taylor, C. B., Maddock, R. J., Davies, S., et al. (1992). Stress test reactivity in panic disorder. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 49(4), 301–310.
- Roy-Byrne, P. P., & Cowley, D. S. (1995). Course and outcome in panic disorder: A review of recent follow-up studies. *Anxiety*, 1, 151–160.
- Roy-Byrne, P. P., & Cowley, D. S. (2002). Pharamcologic treatments for panic disorder, generalized anxiety disorder, specific phobia and social anxiety disorders. In P. E. Nathan & Gorman J. M. (Eeds.) *A guide to treatments that work*, (2nd ed.). 337–365. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Roy-Byrne, P. P. Cowley, D. S., Greenblatt, D. J., Shader, R. I. & Hommer, D. (1990). Reduced benzodiazepine sensitivity in panic disorder. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 47, 534– 538.
- Roy-Bryne, P. P., Craske, M. G., Stein, M. B., Sullivan, G., Bystritsky, A., Katon, W., et al. (2005). A randomized effectiveness trial of cognitive-behavioral therapy and medication for primary care treatment of panic disorder. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 62, 290– 298.
- Roy-Byrne, P. P., Geraci, M., & Uhde, T. W. (1986). Life events and the onset of panic disorder. *American Journal of Psychiatry, 143,* 1424–1427.
- Roy-Byrne, P. P., Katon, W., Cowley, D. S., & Russo, J. (2002). A randomized effectiveness trial of collaborative care for patients with panic disorder in primary care. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 58, 869–876.
- Roy-Byrne, P. P. Mellman, T.A, Uhde, T.W. (1988). Biologic findings in panic disorder: Neuroendocrine and sleep-related abnormalities. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders. Special Issue: Perspectives on panic-related disorders*, 2, 17–29.
- Roy-Byrne, P. P., Sherbourne, C. D., Craske, M. G., Stein, M. G., Katon, W., Sullivan, G., et al. (2003). Moving treatment research from clinical trials to the real world. *Psychiatric Services*, 54, 327–332.
- Roy-Byrne PP, Stang P, Wittchen HU, Ustun B, Walters EE, Kessler RC (2000). Lifetime panic-depression comorbidity in the National Comorbidity Survey. Association with symptoms, impairment, course and help-seeking. *The British Journal of Psychiatry*, 176, 229-35.

- Roy-Byrne, P. P., Stein, M. B., Russo, J., Mercier, E., Thomas, R., McQuaid, J., et al. (1999). Panic disorder in the primary care setting: Comorbidity, disability, service utilization, and treatment. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 60, 492–499.
- Rueter, M. A., Scaramella, L., Wallace, L. E., & Conger, R. D. (1999). First onset of depressive or anxiety disorders predicted by the longitudinal course of internalizing symptoms and parent–adolescent disagreements. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 56, 726–732.
- Safren, S. A., Gershuny, B. S., Marzol, P., Otto, M. W. & Pollack, M. H. (2002). History of childhood abuse in panic disorder, social phobia, and generalized anxiety disorder. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease 190*, 453–456.
- Sakai, Y., Kumano, H., Nishikawa, M., Sakano, Y., Kaiya., Hisanobu., <AQ: Authors' initials needed> et al. (2005). "Cerebral glucose metabolism associated with a fear network in panic disorder": Erratum. *Neuroreport: For Rapid Communication of Neuroscience Research, 16*, 1251.
- Salkovskis, P. M. (1988). Phenomenology, assessment, and the cognitive model of panic. In S. M. J. D. Rachman (Ed.), *Panic: Psychological perspectives* (pp. 111–136). Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Salkovskis, P. M., Clark, D. M., & Hackmann, A. (1991). Treatment of panic attacks using cognitive therapy without exposure or breathing retraining. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *29*, 161–166.
- Salkovskis, P. M., Clark, D. M., Hackman, A., Wells, A., & Gelder, M. G. (1999). An experimental investigation of the role of safety behaviours in the maintenance of panic disorder with agoraphobia. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 37, 559–574.
- Sanacora, G., Mason, G. F., Rothman, D. L., Behar, K. L., Hyder, F., Petroff, O. A., et al. (1999). Reduced cortical gamma-aminobutyric acid levels in depressed patients determined by proton magnetic resonance spectroscopy. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 56, 1043–1047.
- Sanderson, W. C., Rapee, R. M., & Barlow, D. H. (1989). The influence of an illusion of control on panic attacks induced via inhalation of 5.5% carbon dioxide-enriched air. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 46, 157–162.
- Scherrer, J. F., True, W. R., Xian, H., Lyons, M. J., Eisen, S. A., Goldberg, J., et al. (2000). Evidence for genetic influences common and specific to symptoms of generalized anxiety and panic. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 57, 25–35.
- Schittecatte, M., Charles, G., Depauw, Y., Mesters, P., & Wilmotte, J. (1988). Growth hormone response to clonidine in panic disorder patients. *Psychiatry Research*, *23*, 147–151.

- Schmidt, N. B., Lerew, D. R., & Jackson, R. J. (1997). The role of anxiety sensitivity in the pathogenesis of panic: Prospective evaluation of spontaneous panic attacks during acute stress. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 106, 355–364.
- Schmidt, N. B., Lerew, D. R., & Jackson, R. J. (1999). Prospective evaluation of anxiety sensitivity in the pathogenesis of panic: Replication and extension. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 108, 532–537.
- Schmidt, N. B., Trakowski, J. H., & Staab, J. P. (1997). Extinction of panicogenic effects of a 35% CO₂ challenge in patients with panic disorder. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 106, 630–638.
- <u>Schumacher J, Abou Jamra R, Becker T, Klopp N, Franke P, Jacob C, Sand P, Fritze J, Ohlraun S, Schulze TG, Rietschel M, Illig T, Propping P, Cichon S, Deckert J, Nöthen MM.</u>
 (2005). Investigation of the DAOA/G30 locus in panic disorder. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 10(5), 428-9.
- Shear, M. K., Polan, J. J., Harshfield, G., Pickering, T., Mann, J. J., Frances, A., et al. (1992). Ambulatory monitoring of blood pressure and heart rate in panic patients. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 6, 213–221.
- Shibuki, K., Kamamura, M., & Yagi, K. (1984). Conditioned heart rate response: Testing under anaesthesia in rats. *Neuroscience Research*, *1*, 373–378.
- Shioiri, T., Kojima, M., Toshihiro, H., Kitamura, H., Tanaka, A., Yoshizawa, M., et al. (2005). Dysfunctional baroreflex regulation of sympathetic nerve activity in remitted patients with panic disorder: A new methodological approach. *European Archives of Psychiatry* and Clinical Neuroscience, 255, 293–298.
- Slaap, B. R., Nielen, M. M., Boshuisen, M. L., van Roon, A. M., & den Boer, J. A. (2004). Fiveminute recordings of heart rate variability in obsessive-compulsive disorder, panic disorder and healthy volunteers. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 78, 141–148.
- Sokolowska, M., Siegel, S., & Kim. J. A. (2002). Intra-administration associations: Conditional hyperalgesia elicited by morphine onset cues. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: Animal Behavior Processes, 28,* 309–320.
- Speca, M., Carolson, L. E., Goodey, E., & Angen, M. (2000). A randomized, wait-list controlled clinical trial: The effect of a mindfulness meditation-based stress reduction program on mood and symptoms of stress in cancer outpatients. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 62, 613– 622.
- Spiegel, D. A., Bruce, T. J., Gregg, S. F., & Nuzzarello, A. (1994). Does cognitive behavior therapy assist slow-taper alprazolam discontinuation in panic disorder? *American Journal* of Psychiatry, 151, 876–881.

- Stein, M. B., & Asmundson, G. J. G. (1994). Autonomic function in panic disorder: Cardiorespiratory and plasma catecholamine responsivity to multiple challenges of the autonomic nervous system. *Biological Psychiatry*, 36, 548–558.
- Stein, M. B., Walker, J. R., Anderson, G., Hazen, A. L., Ross, C. A., Eldridge, G., et al. (1996). Childhood physical and sexual abuse in patients with anxiety disorders and a community sample. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 153, 275–277.
- Stubbe, D. E., Zahner, G. E.P., Goldstein, M. J., & Leckman, J. F., (1993). Diagnostic specificity of a brief measure of expressed emotion: A community study of children. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*, 34, 139–154.
- Sturges, L. V., Goetsch, V. L., Ridley, J., & Whittal, M. (1998). Anxiety sensitivity and response to hyperventilation challenge: Physiologic arousal, interoceptive acuity, and subjective distress. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, 12, 103–115.
- Swinson, R. P., Soulios, C., Cox, B. J., & Kuch, K. (1992). Brief treatment of emergency room patients with panic attacks. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 149, 944-946.
- Takahashi, T., Murata, T., Hamada, T., Omori, M., Kosaka, H., Kikuchi, M., et al. (2005). Changes in EEG and autonomic nervous activity during meditation and their association with personality traits. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 55, 199–207.
- Taylor, S., Koch, W. J., & McNally, R. J. (1992). How does anxiety sensitivity vary across the anxiety disorders? *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, *6*, 249–259.
- Taylor, C. B., Sheikh, J., Agras, W. S., Roth, W. T., Margraf, J., Ehlers, A., et al. (1986). Ambulatory heart rate changes in patients with panic attacks. *American Journal of Psychiatry*, 143, 478–482.
- Telch, M. J., Brouilard, M., Telch, C. F., Agras, W. S., & Taylor, C. B. (1989). Role of cognitive appraisal in panic-related avoidance. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *27*, 373–383.
- Telch, M. J., Shermans, M. D., & Lucas, J. A. (1989). Anxiety sensitivity: Unitary personality trait or domain-specific appraisals? *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, *3*, 25–32.
- Telch, M. J., Valentiner, D. P., Ilai, D., Young, P. R., Powers, M. B., & Smits, J. A.J. (2004). Fear activation and distraction during the emotional processing of claustrophobic fear. *Journal of Behavior Therapy and Experimental Psychiatry*, 35, 219–232.
- Thayer, J. F., Friedman, B. H., & Borkovec, T. D. (1996). Autonomic characteristics of generalized anxiety disorder and worry. *Biological Psychiatry*, *39*, 255–266.
- Thayer, J. F., Friedman, B. H., Borkovec, T. D., Johnsen, B. H., & Molina, S. (2000). Phasic heart period reactions to cued threat and nonthreat stimuli in generalized anxiety disorder. *Psychophysiology*, *37*, 361–368.

- <u>Thorgeirsson TE, Oskarsson H, Desnica N, Kostic JP, Stefansson JG, Kolbeinsson H, Lindal E, Gagunashvili N, Frigge ML, Kong A, Stefansson K, Gulcher JR</u>. Anxiety with panic disorder linked to chromosome 9q in Iceland. *American Journal of Human Genetics*, 72(5), 1221-30.
- Thyer, B. A., Himle, J., Curtis, G. C., Cameron, O. G., & Nesse, R. M. (1985). A comparison of panic disorder and agoraphobia with panic attacks. *Comprehensive Psychiatry*, *26*, 208–214.
- Thwaites, R., & Freeston, M. H. (2005). Safety-seeking behaviours: Fact or function? How can we clinically differentiate between safety behaviours and adaptive coping strategies across anxiety disorders? *Behavioural and Cognitive Psychotherapy*, *33*, 177–188.
- Tsao, J. C. I., Lewin, M. R., & Craske, M. G. (1998). The effects of cognitive-behavior therapy for panic disorder on comorbid conditions. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders*, *12*, 357–371.
- Tsao, J. C. I., Mystkowski, J. L., Zucker, B. G., & Craske, M. G. (2002). Effects of cognitivebehavioral therapy for panic disorder on comorbid conditions: Replication and extension. *Behavior Therapy*, 33, 493–509.
- Tsao, J. C. I., Mystkowski, J. L., Zucker, B. G., & Craske, M. G. (2005). Impact of cognitivebehavioral therapy for panic disorder on comorbidity: A controlled investigation. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 43, 959–970.
- Turner, S. M., Williams, S. L., Beidel, D. C., & Mezzich, J. E. (1986). Panic disorder and agoraphobia with panic attacks: Covariation along the dimensions of panic and agoraphobic fear. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 95, 384–388.
- Uchida, R. R., Del-Ben, C. M., Santos, A. C., Araujo, D., Crippa, J. A., Guiamaraes, F. S., et al. (2003). Decreased left temporal lobe volume of panic patients measured by magnetic resonance imaging. *Brazilian Journal of Medical and Biological Research*, 36, 925–929.
- Uhde, T. W. (1994). Anxiety and growth disturbance: Is there a connection? A review of biological studies in social phobia. *Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, *55(Suppl)*, 17–27.
- Uno, T., (1970). The effects of awareness and successive inhibition on interoceptive and exteroceptive conditioning of the galvanic skin response. *Psychophysiology*, *7*, 27–43.
- van Balkom, A. J. L. M., de Beurs, E.; Koele, P.; Lange, A., & van Dyck, R. (1996). Long-term benzodiazepine use is associated with smaller treatment gain in panic disorder with agoraphobia. *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease, 184(2),* 133-135.
- van Beek, N., Schruers, K. R. J., & Friez, E. J. L. (2005). Prevalence of respiratory disorders in first-degree relatives of panic disorder patients. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 87, 337– 340.

- van den Heuvel, O. A., Veltman, D. J., Groenewegen, H. J., Witter, M. P., Merkelbach, J., Cath, D. C., et al. (2005). Disorder-specific neuroanatomical correlates of attentional bias in obsessive-compulsive disorder, panic disorder, and hypochondriasis. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 62, 922–933.
- van den Hout, M., Arntz, A., & Hoekstra, R. (1994). Exposure reduced agoraphobia but not panic, and cognitive therapy reduced panic but not agoraphobia. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *32*, 447–451.
- van Megen, H. J., Westenberg, H. G., Den Boer, J. A., & Kahn, R. S. (1996). The panic-inducing properties of the cholecystokinin tetrapeptide CCK4 in patients with panic disorder. *European Neuropsychopharmacology, 6,* 187–194.
- Veltman, D. J., van Zijderveld, G., Tilders, F. J. H., & van Dyck, R. (1996). Epinephrine and fear of bodily sensations in panic disorder and social phobia. *Journal of Psychopharmacology*, 10, 259–265.
- Veltman, D. J., van Zijderveld, G. A., van Dyck, R., & Bakker, A. (1998). Predictability, controllability, and fear of symptoms of anxiety in epinephrine-induced panic. *Biological Psychiatry*, 44, 1017–1026.
- Verburg, K., Griez, E., Meijer, J., & Pols, H. (1995). Respiratory disorders as a possible predisposing factor for panic disorder. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, *33*, 129–134.
- Ware, J. E. (1993). *SF–36 health survey manual and interpretation guide*. Boston: The Health Institute, New England Medical Center.
- Warren, R., & Zgourides, G. (1988). Panic attacks in high school students: Implications for prevention and intervention. *Phobia Practice and Research Journal, 1,* 97-113.
- Watson, D., & Clark, L. A. (1984). Negative affectivity: The disposition to experience aversive emotional states. *Psychological Bulletin, 96,* 465–490.
- Watt, M. C., & Stewart, S. H. (2000). Anxiety sensitivity mediates the relationships between childhood learning experiences and elevated hypochondriacal concerns in young adulthood. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research, 49,* 107–118.
- Watt, M. C., Stewart, S. H., & Cox, B. J. (1998). A retrospective study of the learning history origins of anxiety sensitivity. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, *36*, 505–525.
- Wenzlaff, R. M., & Wegner, D. M., (2000). Thought suppression. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 51, 59–91.
- Westen, D., & Morrison, K. (2001). A multidimensional meta-analysis of treatments for depression, panic, and generalized anxiety disorder: An empirical examination of the status of empirically supported therapies. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 69, 875–899.

- Westra, H. A., Stewart, S. H., & Conrad, B. E. (2002). Naturalistic manner of benzodiazepine use and cognitive behavioral therapy outcome in panic disorder with agoraphobia. *Journal of Anxiety Disorders 16*, 233–246.
- Whaley, S. E., Pinto, A., & Sigman, M. (1999). Characterizing interactions between anxious mothers and their children. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 67, 826–836.
- Wardle, J., Hayward, P., Higgitt, A., Stabl, M., Blizard, R., & Gray, J. (1994). Effects of concurrent diazepam treatment on the outcome of exposure therapy in agoraphobia. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 32, 203-215.
- Wheeler, E. O., White, P. D., Reed, E. W., & Cohen, M. E. (1950). Neurocirculatory asthenia, anxiety neurosis, effort syndrome, neurasthenia: A 20 year follow-up study of 173 patients. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 142, 878–889.
- White, K. S. & Barlow, D. H. (2002). Panic disorder and agoraphobia. In D. H. Barlow (Ed.), *Anxiety and its disorders: The nature and treatment of anxiety and panic*. New York: Guilford.
- Wilkinson, D. J., Thompson, J. M., Lambert, G. W., Jennings, G. L., Schwarz, R. G., Jefferys, D., et al. (1998). Sympathetic activity in patients with panic disorder at rest, under laboratory mental stress, and during panic attacks. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 55, 511–520.
- Williams, S. L., & Falbo, J. (1996). Cognitive and performance-based treatments for panic attacks in people with varying degrees of agoraphobic disability. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 34, 253–264.
- Windmann, S., Sakhavat, Z., & Kutas, M. (2002). Electrophysiological evidence reveals affective evaluation deficits early in stimulus processing in patients with panic disorder. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 111, 357–369.
- Wittchen, H. U., & Essau, C. A. (1991). The epidemiology of panic attacks, panic disorder and agoraphobia. In J. R. Walker, G. R. Norton, & C. A. Ross (Eds.), *Panic disorder and* agoraphogia (pp. 103–149). Monterey, CA: Brooks/Cole.
- Wittchen, H.-U., Reed, V., & Kessler, R. C. (1998). The relationship of agoraphobia and panic in a community sample of adolescents and young adults. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 55, 1017–1024.
- Wood, J., McLeod, B., Sigman, M., Hwang, W., & Chu, B. (2003). Parenting and childhood anxiety: Theory, empirical findings, and future directions. *Journal of Child Psychology* and Psychiatry and Allied Disciplines, 44, 134–151.

- Woodruff-Borden, J., Morrow, C., Bourland, S., & Cambron, S. (2002). The behavior of anxious parents: Examining mechanisms of transmission of anxiety from parent to child. *Journal of Clinical Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, *31*, 364–374.
- Wooley, C. F. (1982). Jacob Mendez DaCosta: Medical teacher, clinician, and clinical investigator. *American Journal of Cardiology, 50,* 1145–1148.
- Yelin, Edward, Mathias, Susan D., Buesching, Don P., Rowland, Clayton, et al (1996). The impact on employment of an intervention to increase recognition of previously untreated anxiety among primary care physicians. *Social Science & Medicine*, 42(7), 1069-1075.
- Zarate, R., Rapee, R. M., Craske, M. G., & Barlow, D. H. (1988). Response-norms for symptom induction procedures. Poster presented at 22nd Annual AABT convention, New York.
- Zinbarg, R. E., & Barlow, D. H. (1996). Structure of anxiety and the anxiety disorders: A hierarchical model. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *105*, 184–193.
- Zinbarg, R. E., Barlow, D. H., & Brown, T. A. (1997). Hierarchical structural and general factor saturation of the anxiety sensitivity index: Evidence and implications. *Psychological Assessment*, *9*, 277–284.
- Zucker, B. G., & Craske, M. G. (2001). Prevention of anxiety disorders: a model for intervention. *Applied & Preventive Psychology*, 10, 155–175.
- Zvolensky, M. J., Kotov, R., Antipova, A. V., & Schmidt, N. B. (2005). Diathesis stress model for panic-related distress: A test in a Russian epidemiological sample. *Behaviour Research and Therapy*, 43, 521–532.

Notes

1. Heart rate in humans is regulated by the sinoatrial node (SA), the natural pacemaker of the heart, located in the muscle fibers of the right atrial chamber. The SA is enervated by the sympathetic and parasympathetic branches of the autonomic nervous system, both of which modulate the regular rhythm set by the SA. The vagus, the 10th cranial nerve, serves as the principal source of parasympathetic communication between the SA and the central nervous system (Porges, 2003).

2. Few individuals in the sample met DSM-IV criteria for social phobia (n=1) or obsessive compulsive disorder (n=4; Kikuchi, 2005). Therefore, individuals with and without agoraphobia could not be compared on these anxiety disorders.

3. Specific phobias were not assessed, but by being most circumscribed, SPs would be hypothesized to load the least on negative affectivity.

4. Although scientifically defining the construct of mindfulness has been challenging (Bishop, 2002), it is thought to involve the cultivation of concentration, attention, and nonjudgmental acceptance toward whatever one is experiencing in the present moment (Bishop et al., 2004).